G Model NBR 1470 1-14

ARTICLE IN PRESS

Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews xxx (2011) xxx-xxx



Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/neubiorev

Review

Recent progress in cell therapy for basal ganglia disorders with emphasis on menstrual blood transplantation in stroke

Maria Carolina Oliveira Rodrigues^{a,b,**}, Julio Voltarelli^b, Paul R. Sanberg^a, Julie G. Allickson^c, Svitlana Garbuzova-Davis^a, Cesar V. Borlongan^{a,*}

^a Department of Neurosurgery and Brain Repair, University of South Florida College of Medicine, 12901 Bruce B. Downs Blvd., Tampa, FL, USA

^b Department of Internal Medicine, School of Medicine of Ribeirão Preto, University of São Paulo, Ribeirão Preto, São Paulo, Brazil

^c Cryo-Cell International, Inc., Tampa, FL, USA

ARTICLE INFO

Article history:
Received 21 January 2011
Received in revised form 25 April 2011
Accepted 20 May 2011

Keywords:
Kell-based therapy
Menstrual blood stem cells
Endometrium-derived sten

- Endometrium-derived stem cells Basal ganglia disorders
- 21 Basal gang
- 22 Stroke 23 Parkins

10 11

Parkinson's diseaseHuntington's disease

ABSTRACT

Cerebrovascular diseases are the third leading cause of death and the primary cause of long-term disability in the United States. The only approved therapy for stroke is tPA, strongly limited by the short therapeutic window and hemorrhagic complications, therefore excluding most patients from its benefits. Parkinson's and Huntington's disease are the other two most studied basal ganglia diseases and, as stroke, have very limited treatment options. Inflammation is a key feature in central nervous system disorders and it plays a dual role, either improving injury in early phases or impairing neural survival at later stages. Stem cells can be opportunely used to modulate inflammation, abrogate cell death and, therefore, preserve neural function. We here discuss the role of stem cells as restorative treatments for basal ganglia disorders, including Parkinson's disease, Huntington's disease and stroke, with special emphasis to the recently investigated menstrual blood stem cells. We highlight the availability, proliferative capacity, pluripotentiality and angiogenic features of these cells and explore their present and future experimental and clinical applications.

© 2011 Published by Elsevier Ltd.

Contents

25

39

6	1.	Current status of stroke	00
7	2.	The role of inflammation in stroke and other neurodegenerative conditions	00
8	3.	Critical therapeutic window for cell therapy in stroke	00
9	4.	Mechanisms of therapeutic targets for stem cells	00
0	5.	The therapeutic potential of stem cells in stroke	00
1	6.	Other basal ganglia disorders: Parkinson's and Huntington's disease	00
2	7.	The search for the optimal donor cell for transplantation	00
3	8.	Stem cells derived from the endometrium: characterization and applications	00
4	9.	Limitations and practical issues	00
5	10.	Concluding remarks and future perspectives	00
6		Disclosures	00
7		Acknowledgement	00
8		References	00

1. Current status of stroke

* Corresponding author. Tel.: +1 813 974 3154; fax: +1 813 974 3078.

Q1 ** Corresponding author at: University of South Florida, College of Medicine, Department of Neurosurgery and Brain Repair, 12901 Bruce B. Downs Blvd, Tampa, Fl, United States. Tel.: +1 813 974 3154; fax: +1 813 974 3078.

E-mail address: cborlong@health.usf.edu (C.V. Borlongan).

0149-7634/\$ – see front matter © 2011 Published by Elsevier Ltd. doi:10.1016/j.neubiorev.2011.05.010

Cerebrovascular diseases are the third leading cause of death (Xu et al., 2010a) and the primary cause of long-term disability in the United States (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 1999). Although the incidence and mortality have decreased over the years, stroke remains a major concern in the clinical setting

40 41

42 43 44

46

47

48

49

50

51

52

53

54

55

56

57

58

59

60

61

62

63

64

65

66

67

68

69

70

71

largely due to the limited treatment currently available. 15–30% of first time stroke patients become permanently disabled and that 20% still require institutional care 3 months after stroke (Asplund et al., 1998). Moreover, the American Heart Association reports estimated direct and indirect costs of stroke of \$73.7 billion for the year of 2010 (Lloyd-Jones et al., 2010), indicating that this disease negatively impacts on the economic productivity of our society. Therefore, every effort to decrease the incidence of strokes and to, at least, minimize their devastating sequelae is urgently warranted.

To date, the best available therapeutic agent is tissue plasminogen activator (tPA), which is indicated for ischemic stroke. The drug catalyzes the transformation of plasminogen into plasmin, which acts as a potent thrombolytic agent and is used to restore the blood flow, thus minimizing immediate tissue death. In 1995, an American clinical trial demonstrated that patients treated with tPA within 3 h of beginning of symptoms presented less disability 3 months later (The National Institute of Neurological Disorders and Stroke rt-PA Stroke Study Group, 1995) and the results were also supported by a similar concomitant European trial (Hacke et al., 1995). Since then, the American Food and Drug Department (FDA) and, later, the European Medicines Agency have approved the drug and it has been applied as standard therapy in emergency rooms all over the world. Numerous other studies also supported the early use of tPA, demonstrating a direct correlation between time elapsed to begin treatment and long-term neurological impairment (Alexandrov et al., 2001; Marler et al., 2000; Rha and Saver, 2007).

The therapeutic window of 3 h, however, is a major barrier to 72 tPA clinical application, since most of patients are not able to reach 73 an Emergency Room and complete the Neurologic triage within 74 that timeframe. It was estimated in 2008 that only 1.8-2.1% of 75 all patients affected by ischemic strokes in the United States had 76 received the therapy (Kleindorfer et al., 2008). Further studies have 77 tried to evaluate the possibility of extending the limit beyond 78 3 h, but there were mixed results, with an increase in mortality 79 due to hemorrhagic complications (Carpenter et al., 2011; Cronin, 80 81 O2 2010; Hacke et al., 2008). The exciting initial outcome of tPA therapy necessitated more careful analyses. Indeed, subsequent studies 82 showed that the results of tPA treatment were not as favorable as 83 once suggested and, most importantly, that its beneficial effects 84 were restricted to a small population of the stroke patients. In 2006, 85 the European data were analyzed, and indicated that male gen-86 der, history of previous strokes, higher age, co-morbidities, such as 87 hypertension and diabetes, and higher severity of the stroke were 88 associated with poor outcomes after tPA therapy (Kent et al., 2006). 89 90 Moreover, new research has shown that while tPA renders clot clearance within the intravascular space, it can be deleterious to the 91 brain through worsening of the already altered blood-brain barrier 92 permeability, in addition to the direct neurotoxic effects reported 93 by Yepes et al. (2009). In summary, treatment of stroke is still very 94 limited. It is clear that tPA for ischemic stroke benefits a very select 95 group of patients, while those unfortunate patients not able to avail 96 of the 3-h tPA efficacy period will have to deal with the long-term 97 consequences of the disease. For these, restorative interventions 98 may offer some benefits to sub-acute and chronic ischemic stroke 99 patients. 100

2. The role of inflammation in stroke and other 101 neurodegenerative conditions 102

The acute blood supply interruption that takes place in ischemic 103 stroke promotes almost instant cell death of the infarct core. The 104 surrounding tissue comprises the penumbra area, which retains 105 structural integrity, but lacks function. It has a less defined out-106 107 come, and may either evolve to death or to recovery, depending on 108 the severity of the ischemia and on the reestablishment of blood flow within the first hours after stroke (Green et al., 2003). In the penumbra area, once the hypoxic insult is settled, a complex cascade of inflammatory events is initiated by microglial activation, resulting in blood-brain barrier leakage, edema, hemorrhage and leukocyte infiltration (Amor et al., 2010; Emsley et al., 2008).

Microglial activation is also described in Parkinson's, Alzheimer's and Huntington's disease (Brochard et al., 2009), both in experimental models and human post-mortem tissue. Ouchi et al. (2009) demonstrated, through positron emission tomography (PET), progressive activation of microglia and concomitant decrease of dopaminergic neurons in brains of live Parkinson's disease patients. Likely, Tai et al. (2007) showed microglial activation in live presymptomatic Huntington's disease gene carriers.

Attracted by the microglia, neutrophils and monocytes are the first leukocytes to migrate into the CNS, followed by dendritic cells and lymphocytes, among which cells with regulatory functions (Gelberblom et al., 2009). Neutrophils are considered the Q3 main mediators of brain injury after reperfusion, and experimental studies correlate their accumulation with the severity of brain tissue damage and poor neurological outcome (Atochin et al., 2000; Matsuo et al., 1994). Once in the cerebral parenchyma, these cells contribute to the amplification of the inflammatory reaction, releasing cytokines, activating resident cells, attracting more cells from the peripheral circulation and activating proteases, all of which lead to further cell death (Jin et al., 2010).

In the last 15 years, research has targeted inflammatory components of stroke, aiming to reduce the extension of injury in the central nervous system (CNS). Anti-inflammatory interventions may attenuate the secondary cell death associated with ischemic stroke and, likely, lessen neurological impairments among other progressive disabilities. Experimental studies have shown that suppression of the inflammatory response after stroke leads to reduction of the infarct size (Connolly et al., 1996; Hurn et al., Q4 142 2007). However, the side effects of the systemic immunosuppression promoted by these approaches, such as infections, limit their clinical application. Specific inflammatory agents have been targeted in experimental models, with variable results (Banwell et al., 2009; Fan et al., 2009; Wang et al., 2004; Yilmaz and Granger, 2010). Although the ICAM-1 antagonist showed exciting outcomes Q5 in the experimental setting, they were not reproduced by the clinical trial (Enlimomab Acute Stroke Trial Investigators, 2001). Others Q6 have focused on more general interventions, also trying to abrogate inflammation, such as induced hypothermia, corticosteroids and minocycline (Faraji et al., 2009; Linares and Mayer, 2009; Matsukawa et al., 2009), some of which are currently being evaluated in clinical trials.

Inflammation plays a double edged sword in stroke and in neurodegenerative conditions. While it can be deleterious to the integrity of the CNS, it is also necessary for repair. Some of the inflammatory agents, such as IL-6, nitric oxide (NO) and TNF- α , have antagonistic effects on the tissue, acting as protective in early phases and detrimental in late stages of injury (Luheshi et al., 2009; McCoy and Tansey, 2008; Suzuki et al., 2009). The microglia stimulate the infiltration of immune cells, release toxic molecules such as free radicals, arachidonic acid, pro-inflammatory cytokines and therefore contribute to cell death. On the other hand, they phagocyte debris and produce neurotrophic factors, important for tissue repair. Astrocytes have supportive functions in the CNS, including scavenge of neurotransmitters released during synaptic activity, water and ion homeostasis, production of neurotrophic factors, integrity of the blood-brain barrier and control of the microvascular tonus in the CNS (Takano et al., 2009). Failure of any of the supportive functions jeopardizes neuronal survival. Additionally, reactive astrocytes contribute to the formation of glial scar, therefore limiting the extension of injury. In long-term, however,

126

127

128

129

130

131

132

133

134

135

136

137

138

139

140

141

100

110

111

112

113

114

115

116

117

154

155

156

157

158

159

160

161

162

163

164

165

166

167

168

169

170

171

172

173

174

the scar mechanically restrains the blood supply and migration of 175 cells and, therefore, hampers repair of the injured tissue. Interest-176 ingly, Faulkner et al. (2004) demonstrated that the inhibition of 177 astrocyte activation following spinal cord injury increased neuron 178 death, possibly because even in an injured environment, astrocytes 179 still maintain some supportive functions, including the secretion 180 of neurotrophic factors (NGF and BDGF), which are important for 181 tissue repair and modulation of synaptic plasticity (Kriz, 2006). 182

In summary, inflammation may afford benefits to the brain 183 during the early stages of neural cell death. However, during the 184 chronic period, if inflammation persists and no therapeutic inter-185 vention is employed to correct this aberrant response, then such 186 host tissue response to injury will exacerbate the disease progres-187 sion. In several aspects, the inflammatory mechanisms described 188 after stroke resemble those also observed in chronic, neurodegen-189 erative diseases, in which inflammation is also a key feature. In fact, 190 most of the knowledge about the pathogenesis of stroke derives 191 from previous studies in Parkinson's, Huntington's and Alzheimer's 192 diseases (Park et al., 2009a). After an initial trigger, microglia activa-193 tion takes place, initiating a chronic inflammatory reaction, which 194 frequently leads to tissue destruction (Wyss-Coray and Mucke, 195 196 2002). Along this line, the initiation of anti-inflammatory regimens for stroke and neurodegenerative diseases is critical to the resulting 197 outcome and it represents an opportune niche for the application 198 of cell-based therapies. Additional critical analyses of inflammation 199 as a friend and foe of stroke are needed to fully decipher the mech-200 anisms of action of inflammation in disease onset and progression. 201

3. Critical therapeutic window for cell therapy in stroke 202

Injury following stroke can be divided in three consecu-203 tive stages, important for the different therapeutic opportunities 204 implied in each (Hess and Borlongan, 2008). In the 24 h that imme-205 diately follow stroke, attempts to restore the blood flow would be 206 neuroprotective, therefore preventing further early neuronal death 207 and restricting the extent of the penumbra area. Thereafter, once 208 the injury is established, the interventions would be mainly restora-209 tive and cell-based therapies would have their best indications. 210 It is known from animal studies that during the first month after 211 stroke the brain produces inflammatory signals, which can be used 212 to opportunely attract cells injected in the systemic circulation to 213 the site of injury (Hill et al., 2004). Although most intravenously 214 injected cells are trapped in peripheral organs and readily elim-215 inated, studies describe neurological restoration despite the low 216 number of cells that effectively reach the inflammatory target 217 (Detante et al., 2009; Park et al., 2009a). It is also during this inflam-218 matory period that the interventions may restore the viability of the 219 tissue in the penumbra area. Terminated the first month, inflam-220 mation decreases and scars and structural damage persist. Stem 221 cells still have a possible therapeutic role in this last phase, but 222 they should be delivered directly into the nervous tissue, through 223 the aid of scaffolds and surgical procedures. 224

Stem cells opportunely interact with the inflammatory dynam-225 ics of stroke, modulating its harmful effects and maximizing its 226 regenerative potential. To this end, finding a novel approach 227 directed at the sub-acute injury phase of stroke, such as the use of 228 cell therapy against secondary inflammatory response, to at least 229 minimize the injuries and at most reverse the outcome of stroke 230 is a logical therapeutic approach towards improving the quality 231 of life for many stroke patients. One of the major difficulties in 232 stem cell therapy is to find an adequate source of cells, readily 233 available for applications, without time-consuming manipulations. 234 Ideally, autologous sources would be preferred, avoiding rejection 235 236 and allowing longer permanence of engrafted cells in the targeted 237 tissue. Concerning stroke, the short time window after the event frequently limits the use of autologous cells, which in most cases need to be collected and expanded before delivery. Fortunately, mesenchymal or stromal cells are suitable candidates for allogeneic application, due to their low immunogenicity (Yagi et al., 2010). Although ultimately rejected by the host immune system, these cells remain long enough within the tissue to promote tissue repair, without immunosuppression (Westrich et al., 2010).

4. Mechanisms of therapeutic targets for stem cells

Although the knowledge about cell-based therapy for stroke and other neurological diseases has increased over the years, there is no consensus about how the cells should be administered and even about which types of cells are most effective (Banerjee et al., 2011). In the past years, several studies have addressed the issue, with relevant contributions to the field. First, transplanted cells have limited survival in the host, whether injected locally or systemically (Jablonska et al., 2010; Mitrecić et al., 2010). This observation, although at first seeming discouraging, may be important in the clinical practice, since it indicates that the host immune system is able to control the presence of an allogeneic cell, avoiding undesired proliferation and malignancy. On the other hand, the presence of the cell during a minimum period is necessary, in order to provide therapeutic effects. Second, stem cells are attracted to the site of inflammation by agents such as stromal cell-derived factor (SDF), monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1) and macrophage inflammatory protein (MIP-1 α) (Park et al., 2009b). Third, undifferentiated cells survive longer and migrate farther in the host tissue than previously differentiated cells (Le Belle et al., 2004). Finally, some tissues secrete differentiation stimulating factors, which could be effective in vivo, avoiding the necessity of previous differentiation (Fujiwara et al., 2004).

Although a significant number of recent studies investigate the therapeutic effects of mature or differentiated cells, it is evident that more immature cell lines also have their advantages. Less differentiated cells maintain stem cell markers, including the stem cell factor receptor, which aid in migration to the sites of injury (Sun et al., 2004). Second, these cells usually have more differentiating potential, compared to the already committed predifferentiated cells (Park et al., 2009a). This property may allow the differentiation of the transplanted cells into more than one cell type, in response to the cytokine and chemokine profile determined by the injured tissue and, therefore, provide better repair. Finally, more immature cell types are usually able to secrete a wider range of growth factors, which are also imperative for tissue regeneration. In fact, although predifferentiated cells may seem functional in vitro, some studies in vivo fail to detect integration with the local cells, even when they maintain expression of the differentiation markers, suggesting that their restorative results are mostly mediated by paracrine effects on endogenous precursors (Ourednik et al., 2002; Yasuhara et al., 2006).

On the other end of the spectrum of the stem cell maturity, the embryonic stem cells combine high differentiation potential, ability to migrate to inflammatory sites, secretion of trophic factors and reduced immunogenicity (Daar et al., 2004). However, major difficulties, associated to uncontrolled cell proliferation and the risk of malignancy have hindered research using those cells. Because of ethical and safety reasons associated with embryonic stem cells, the last decade has witnessed the wide use of adult stem cells as graft source for cell therapy. In the United States, the previous government moratorium on the use of embryonic stem cells also arguably influenced the shift of cell-based therapies towards the use of adult Q8 297 stem cells (Table 1).

Once defined that adult undifferentiated cells are the main tools, the following step is to determine the optimal source of

285 07 286

> 295 296

> > 299 300

Please cite this article in press as: Rodrigues, M.C.O., et al., Recent progress in cell therapy for basal ganglia disorders with emphasis on

3

238

239

240

241

242

243

244

245

246

247

248

249

250

251

252

253

254

255

256

257

258

259

260

261

262

263

264

265

266

267

268

269

270

271

272

273

274

275

276

277

278

279

280

281

282

283

284

287

288

289

290

291

292

293

294

menstrual blood transplantation in stroke. Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev. (2011), doi:10.1016/j.neubiorev.2011.05.010

	4	
-	т	

Table 1 Q25 Sources of cells for stroke therapy.^a

Source		References
Adult tissues	Bone marrow	Wu et al. (2008b)
	Umbilical cord blood	Chen et al. (2001),
		Borlongan (2004)
	Adipose tissue	Leu (2010)
	Amniotic fluid	Rehni et al. (2007)
	Menstrual blood	Borlongan (2010)
	Endogenous neural progenitors	Erlandsson et al. (2010)
	Induced pluripotent stem cells	Jiang et al. (2011)
Embryonic tissue	Embryonic stem cells	Takagi (2005)
	Embryonic or fetal neural tissue	Jin (2005)
	Immortalized neural stem cell cultures	Borlongan and Tajima (1998)

^a Adult and embryonic tissues comprise possible sources of cells for stroke therapy. Cells derived from adult tissues present a more mature behavior and are more committed to the original tissue. Nevertheless, studies demonstrate cell migration, repair and functional improvement. Embryonic-derived cells, on the other end, have higher differentiation potential, enabling possible cell replacement, but lack proliferative control and are considered unsafe for clinical application.

these cells. For decades, the bone marrow has been used as the 301 stem cell reservoir for diverse types of therapy. In this context, 302 most of the knowledge derives from bone marrow transplanta-303 tion. In the late years, however, new sources of stem cells have 304 been investigated, as an attempt to avoid the hurdles associated 305 to hematopoietic stem cell harvesting. Moreover, bone marrow-306 derived cells may have their proliferative potential impaired by 307 aging, smoking and chronic illnesses, such as diabetes mellitus and 308 hypertension, conditions very frequently associated to neurovas-309 cular disorders (Umemura et al., 2008; Wagner et al., 2009; Tan 310 et al., 2010; Govaert et al., 2009). Opportunely, some disposable tis-311 sues, such as the umbilical cord blood, placenta, amniotic fluid and, 312 more recently, the menstrual blood, have provided less mature cells 313 314 than the bone marrow, some of which expressing embryonic-like markers (Antonucci et al., 2010; Patel et al., 2008). 315

Concerning the inflammatory environment of stroke and other 316 neurological disorders accompanied by a significant inflammatory 317 318 response, a key feature of stem cells is the ability to modulate the immune response, suppressing deleterious mechanisms without 319 affecting beneficial functions. These unique properties are based on 320 the fact that the suppressive capacity of the stem cells is also regu-321 lated by the inflammatory environment. In that way, stem cells are 322 323 able to control the further generation of pro-inflammatory events and therefore limit the progression of the inflammatory response. 324 Neural stem cells, for example, decrease the expression of TNF- α 325 and, in consequence, reduce neutrophil infiltration into the CNS 326 of rat models of hemorrhagic stroke (Lee et al., 2008). Later in 327 the course of inflammation, stem cells also suppress reactive lym-328 phocytes, while enhancing the activity and proliferation of their 329 beneficial, regulatory subsets (Kim et al., 2009). Moreover, trophic 330 factors secreted by the stem cells stimulate angiogenesis and repair 331 (Priya and McDevitt, 2010). Stem cells are, therefore, a very power-332 09 ful therapeutic tool that still requires further studies to be properly 333 applied with healing purposes. Their potential effects on either 334 acute or chronic inflammatory settings make them useful not only 335 as treatment for stroke, but also for other neurodegenerative con-336 ditions in which inflammation is present. 337

5. The therapeutic potential of stem cells in stroke 338

Stem cell therapy was been firstly applied to basal ganglia dis-339 340 orders, such as Parkinson's and Huntington's disease, in which 341 inflammation is a chronic feature and tissue repair or replacement is necessary. As stroke is also a basal ganglia disorder and shares several pathophysiological events with the abovementioned diseases, stem cells seem the ideal therapeutic tool. To date, numerous studies using stem cells for experimental stroke have been published (Borlongan et al., 2004; Felfly et al., 2010; Leu et al., 2010) and their beneficial effects are becoming well established

M.C.O. Rodrigues et al. / Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews xxx (2011) xxx-xxx

Please cite this article in press as: Rodrigues, M.C.O., et al., Recent progress in cell therapy for basal ganglia disorders with emphasis on

menstrual blood transplantation in stroke. Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev. (2011), doi:10.1016/j.neubiorev.2011.05.010

Diverse sources of stem cells, with variable degrees of cell differentiation, and different suppressive and regenerative potentials have been used for stroke. Bone marrow-derived cells are the most frequently studied, because of the extensive previous knowledge from bone marrow transplantation for hematologic diseases. The hematopoietic and non-hematopoietic fractions of cells available within the bone marrow have both been applied in experimental studies. Bone marrow-derived cells enriched with hematopoietic precursors injected intravenously enhanced survival of mice with lethal stroke induced by middle cerebral artery ligation (Felfly et al., 2010). Similarly, bone marrow cells injected after stroke induction decreased the size of the ischemic injury in animal models of induced stroke and improved functional recovery (Keimpema et al., 2009; Schwarting et al., 2008). Mesenchymal bone marrow cells prevent neuronal apoptosis and stimulate endogenous repair and angiogenesis, thus improving survival and neurological outcome (Wu et al., 2008a). The mesenchymal cells have also been cultured and differentiated in vitro into neuronal-marker expressing cells, and when injected in animal models of stroke, decreased the size of the ischemic injury and improved neurobehavioral outcome (Koh et al., 2008).

Neural stem cells are also investigated as a promising source of repair, based on the observations that endogenous neural progenitors proliferate after cerebral ischemia. Attempts to stimulate endogenous neurogenesis in ischemic brains include growth factors, anti-inflammatory drugs, Galectin-1, Substance-P, nitric oxide, among others (Liu et al., 2009). Exogenous transplantation Q10 375 of immortalized neural stem cells has improved the outcome of rodents with induced stroke. Borlongan et al. (1998b) reported functional and histopathological improvement of ischemic stroke in rats, after the transplantation of the NT2N lineage of immortalized human neural cells. Neural progenitor cells, obtained from embryonic and fetal tissue, are very effective in the experimental setting. Ischemic rodents transplanted with the cells present a significant reduction of the infarct volume, which correlates to behavioral improvement (Jin et al., 2005). Clinical application of these cells, however, is hampered by the little availability of donor tissues.

Embryonic cells provide the most exciting results, due to the extensive pluripotentiality of these cells. Unfortunately, due to their lack of adequate proliferative control and potential teratogenicity, some investigators have been using in vitro differentiated cells into neuronal progenitors, enabling a safer application. When injected into injured brain sites of rodents, the embryonic stem cells promoted transdifferentiation into neural and neuronal cell types, which were functionally active and improved neurological outcome (Takagi et al., 2005).

The application of stem cells in stroke, although successful in several studies, is criticized because their exact targets and mechanisms of action are still unknown and need investigation. However, evidence shows that they can be effective through multiple pathways, all leading to improvement of the injury. Their lack of specificity may be, then, their best quality. The knowledge about the mechanisms of action of stem cells in stroke is still incomplete and fragmented. Taguchi et al. (2004) suggested an angiogenic effect of CD34+ cells from umbilical cord blood on the ischemic area of stroke. They observed that the cells injected systemically into a mouse model of stroke secreted growth factors (VEGF, FGF2 and IGF-1), induced formation of vascular channels and, secondarily,

363 364 365

342

343

344

345

346

347

348

340

350

351

352

353

354

355

356

357

358

359

360

361

362

370

371

372

373

374

376

377

378

379

380

381

382

383

384

385

386

387

388

389

390

391

392

393

394

395

396

397

398

399

400

401

402

403

404

405

406

407

promoted the migration of neuronal precursors into the injured 408 areas, which differentiated and improved nervous function. The 409 addition of anti-angiogenic agents abolished the beneficial effect 410 of the cells, demonstrating the importance of vessels in nervous 411 repair. The issue was later discussed by Saghatelyan (2009), which 412 supported the hypothesis that vasculature-guided neuronal migra-413 tion can be observed not only following stroke, but also as part of 414 the normal brain development. More recently, endothelial progen-415 itor cells injected into de systemic circulation of mice migrated to 416 the stroke area, promoted repair and improved behavior, in com-417 parison to controls, reinforcing the importance of angiogenesis (Fan 418 et al., 2010). Finally, Nakagomi et al. (2009) demonstrated that the 419 addition of endothelial precursors to neural stem cells, engrafted 420 in mouse models of brain ischemia, enhanced cell survival, prolif-421 eration and differentiation, when compared to injections of neural 422 stem cells alone. 423

In the same study published by Taguchi et al. the authors 424 reported that CD34- cells were not able to promote tissue repair 425 1 after stroke. Boltze et al. (2008) refuted this last idea through a 426 **O1** study in which CD34+ and CD34- cell populations from umbil-427 ical cord blood were injected intravenously and had equivalent effects on rat models of stroke. In particular, both cell subtypes promoted functional improvement and migrated to the area of injury, 430 although differentiation into neural markers-expressing cells was 431 not detected. The authors hypothesize that CD133+ CD34- cells 432 might have a role in tissue repair equally as CD34+ cells. This 433 type of discrepant results, although may be construed as hinder-434 ing the progress of cell therapy, actually exemplifies that the field 435 is maturing and that there is a healthy atmosphere among stem 436 cell researchers to confirm, refute and validate efficacy and safety 437 data. In the end, such rigorous preclinical studies will benefit the 438 transplant recipient. 439

Until recently, it was believed that cell effectiveness would be 440 conditional on their migration to the site of injury. In fact, several 441 authors observed a direct relationship between cell migration to 442 the site of injury and behavioral improvement (Barzilay et al., 2006; 443 Jin et al., 2005). However, Borlongan et al. (2004) observed, in rat 444 models of stroke, that umbilical cord blood cells were able to pro-445 mote repair even when not detected in the tissue, probably through 446 the production of growth factors, cytokines and other therapeutic 447 448 molecules that were able to reach the target. Adding importance to that idea, spanning more than 15 years, considerable research 449 has studied the effect of neurotrophic agents on stroke, as it hap-450 pened in basal ganglia disorders. Neurotrophic agents influence 451 cell survival, proliferation, differentiation, function and plasticity 452 (Hefti, 1997; Loughlin et al., 1993). They also have a role in physio-453 logical endogenous repair, and increased levels can be detected in 454 injured neuronal sites (Connor and Dragunow, 1998). They protect 455 neurons from the cytotoxic insults generated during inflammation, 456 with anti-excitotoxic and anti-oxidant functions, besides improv-457 ing mitochondrial function. 458

Administration of agents with specific angiogenic functions, 459 such as vascular-endothelial growth factor (VEGF), angiopoietins, 460 factors that influence Notch signaling, among others, have gen-461 erated interesting results in neural support (Alexi et al., 2000; 462 Androutsellis-Theotokis et al., 2010; Arboleda-Velasquez et al., 463 2008). Additionally, some studies have addressed the use of genet-464 ically modified cells to release neurotrophic factors at the site 465 of injury. The cells would be used as vehicles, attracted to the 466 inflammatory area of stroke, and the growth factors would provide 467 support to neuronal progenitors, besides promoting angiogenesis 468 in the brain (Maurer et al., 2007). Neurotrophic agents are consid-469 ered promising for stroke therapy, but their stable and long-term 470 effectiveness still warrants additional investigations, owing in part 471 472 technical problems related to the manufacturing production of 473 these molecules at clinically therapeutic doses. The combination of neurotrophic factor treatment with cell therapy seems interesting and perhaps will provide exciting results in the future.

6. Other basal ganglia disorders: Parkinson's and Huntington's disease

Experimental stroke studies share overlapping research themes with other animal models of basal ganglia disorders, mainly Parkinson's disease and Huntington's disease, in which numerous therapeutic strategies have been described, aiming to improve survival of remaining neurons, abrogate the ongoing neurotoxic processes or functionally replace the destroyed tissue (Alexi et al., 2000). Cell-based therapy is considered promising and different cell types have been used. Fetal neural tissue, neuronal stem and progenitor cells, tissue engineered to secrete neurotransmitters or neurotrophic factors, para-neuronal cells which support neurons and grafts that may assist the reconstruction of injured axonal pathways have been documented in the literature, with variable results. A major long-standing conundrum in cell therapy is finding the most optimal donor cells. While the more differentiated cells have been thought to offer tissue specific-transplant regimen tailored to treat the specific diseases, their mature phenotype (albeit also mature immune system) renders them to be immunologically rejected by the host and, therefore, rapidly eliminated. On the other hand, less differentiated cells such as the embryonic stem cells are also attractive, since they are better tolerated by the host immune system and have more plasticity, but the risk of uncontrolled proliferation and tumor formation strongly limits their applications.

Parkinson's disease is a common neurodegenerative disease that affects about 2% of the population over 65 years of age. Tremor, rigidity and hypokinesia are caused by a progressive loss of the dopamine-producing neurons from the midbrain substantia nigra, that project into the striatum. Experimental studies have been conducted for approximately 30 years, with exciting data from cell-based therapies, despite some major hurdles (Björklund and Cenci, 2010; Björklund and Lindvall, 2000). The best results Q12 507 were achieved with transplantation of fetal mesencephalic tissue into the striatum, which is the target for dopamine action. In humans, transplantation for Parkinson's disease has been reported since 1982, with initially exciting and later disappointing results (Björklund et al., 1981; Lindvall et al., 1989; Madrazo et al., 1990). The major barrier observed was poor survival of adult grafts in the host brain, which was to some extent solved with the use of tissue from embryonic origin. Still, it is estimated that only about 10% of the transplanted cells survive in the host tissue (Hagell and Brundin, 2001). Fetal mesencephalic tissue has been used to replace the lost neurons and restore dopamine production and comprises an important progress in the field. To date, between 300 and 400 patients have already been grafted with the fetal mesencephalic tissue, but while some report outstanding outcomes, with some patients leaving medication, others fail to observe major effects (Arenas, 2010). The inconsistency of results, ascribed to ethical concerns, limited tissue availability, emergence of unexpected dyskinesias and high rates of graft rejection, still hamper the application of this therapy and stimulate the search for alternatives.

Huntington's disease is genetically determined, with progressive neurodegeneration primarily of the striatum, inducing motor and psychiatric dysfunctions. As in Parkinson's disease, several attempts to delay the progression of the disease have been studied. Treatment of Huntington's disease, though, is complex and requires more than simple neurotransmitter replacement, in that reestablishment of the striatal network is needed. Transplantation of fetal striatal tissue proved to be effective in experimental models of the disease, with symptomatic improvement and evidence of graft incorporation, however controversial establishment of connections with the host striatum remains to be resolved (Borlongan

5

478

479

480

481

482

483

484

485

486

487

488

489

490

49[.]

492

493

474

475

503

504

505

506

508

509

510

511

512

513

514

515

516

517

518

519

520

521

522

523

524

525

526

527

528

529

530

531

532

533

534

535

536

537

577

578

579

580

581

582

583

584

585

586

587

588

589

590

591

592

593

594

595

596

597

598

599

600

M.C.O. Rodrigues et al. / Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews xxx (2011) xxx-xxx

et al., 1998a, 1999; Guzman et al., 1999). Clinical trials have been 538 539 Q13 conducted with modest results (Lindvall and Björklund, 2000).

In evaluating the progress of cell therapy for Parkinson's and 540 Huntington's diseases, it is evident that there are technical dis-541 parities among the centers that might influence the results and 542 some guidelines are to be determined. Age of the patient, disease 543 stage, number of cells, surgical technique to implant the cells, tis-544 sue conservation, among others, are reported as parameters to be 545 defined. Moreover, neurotrophic factors promote neuroprotection, 546 which is essential in both diseases, and some authors propose to 547 combine their use with the transplanted cells (Alexi et al., 2000). 548 Other strategies, using anti-oxidant, anti-excitotoxic, bioenergetic, 549 immunosuppressants and anti-apoptotic agents are also suggested 550 either as stand-alone monotherapy or as adjunct to cell transplan-551 tation. 552

Today, besides the satisfactory results obtained with the trans-553 planted fetal tissue, there is a continued search for other cell 554 sources aiming to treat Parkinson's and Huntingtons's diseases. Lit-555 tle availability of the embryonic tissue is the main reason. Recently, 556 a clinical trial conducted in India tested mesenchymal cells for 557 Parkinson's disease, but while safety was established, efficacy could 558 559 not be evaluated due to the study design (Venkataramana et al., 2010). Similarly, rat models of Huntington's disease were treated 560 with mesenchymal cells genetically modified to express growth factors, evolving with delay of disease progression (Dey et al., 2010). 562 Other researchers focus on neural tissue differentiated from human 563 embryonic stem cells, but the studies are still in the experimental 564 level, mainly because of safety reasons. These cells, even after dif-565 ferentiation, retain the capacity to form tumors and attempts to 566 reverse it have decreased their survival (Friling et al., 2009; Roy 567 et al., 2006). Finally, there is recent effort in treating Parkinson's 568 disease with autologous induced pluripotent stem cells (iPS), which 569 are interesting for their adult cell origin, avoiding ethical issues. 570 Their safety, however, remains questionable, since formation of 571 neural overgrowths was observed in rats transplanted with these 572 cells, similarly to what was seen with embryonic stem cells (Wernig 573 et al., 2008), likely owing to the lack of regulatory mechanisms in 574 controlling the "stemness" technology employed to revert these 575 mature cells into their undifferentiated plastic state. 576

In summary, several cell-based studies are being investigated for basal ganglia disorders, mainly using cells already differentiated into neural tissue (Barzilay et al., 2006; Fricker-Gates and Gates, 2010). While it is still early to apply them in clinical trials, at least in large scales, much of the knowledge acquired from experimental studies can be transposed to the treatment of other diseases. Stroke, for instance, is also considered a basal ganglia disease and cell therapy has been extensively applied to it.

7. The search for the optimal donor cell for transplantation

Stem cells have been applied in clinical and experimental research, aiming to improve the outcome of several neurological diseases, either traumatic, neurodegenerative, vascular or autoimmune. Tables 2 and 3 summarize the main therapeutic strategies using stem cells for central nervous system disorders. Most studies investigate local delivery of less mature cell sources (embryonic/fetal tissue), as treatment for Parkinson's and Huntington's diseases, since long-term graft survival is necessary to provide functional replacement. For diseases in which inflammation has a more pronounced role, such as stroke, multiple sclerosis, and probably ALS, adult stem cell sources are mostly used, aiming to modulate the inflammatory response. Mesenchymal cells have immunomodulatory properties and can also be differentiated into specialized cell types or be manipulated by genetic engineering prior to delivery, acquiring a more specific function. In the clinical setting, most studies use bone marrow-derived cells, except for Parkinson's and Huntington's diseases, in which research with fetal neural tissue has been developed for a many years. The diversity of cell sources used in the experimental studies and the their paucity of clinical applications, as can be observed by the numeric disparity between Tables 2 and 3, indicates that further search for a more adequate cell type is still required.

Despite the multiple ongoing studies involving stem cells in CNS disorders, a long-standing challenge in cell therapy is to find the perfect cell graft, which should be immature enough to hold multipotential differentiation properties and yet safe to not induce malignancy. It should also modulate the immune system, decreasing destructive aggression but preserving its ability to fight pathogens. Finally, it should be able to induce changes in the targeted tissue, either restoring its function or promoting repair. Several cell types match the above criteria and have been applied in experimental and clinical research, however, in most cases, ethical and practical issues are a concern. Stem cells from bone marrow, for instance, work well on most studies, but cell harvesting through bone marrow aspiration or leucoapheresis is needed and, the number of cells obtained may be not enough, besides the need of HLA matching. Other sources, like the liver, skin, heart or even induced pluripotent stem cells (iPS), are also available but the isolation and culture of those cells is currently costly and technically complicated (Gerbal-Chaloin et al., 2010; Huang et al., 2010; Mosna et al., 2010). There is interest, therefore, in acquiring stem cells from disposable and easily accessible tissues, such as the amnion and amniotic fluid, placenta, adipose tissue and, more recently, menstrual blood.

8. Stem cells derived from the endometrium: characterization and applications

The presence of stem cells in the endometrium was described about 30 years ago, from the observation that the upper layers of this tissue shed and were renovated each month (Padykula, 1991; Prianishnikov, 1978). The original notion then, however, stipulates that stem cells were intact in the endometrium but that all cells from the functionalis layer shed in the menstrual were non-viable nature. Epithelial cells compose part of the endometrium, and are found in the surface epithelium and in the tubular glands, which extend from the surface to the interface with the myometrium. The rest of the endometrium consists of stromal cells, smooth muscle cells, endothelial cells and leukocytes (Padykula, 1991). Functionally, the endometrium can be divided in two main layers. The upper layer, named functionalis, contains mostly glands loosely held together by stromal tissue, while the lower layer, basalis, contains dense stroma and branching glands. The funcionalis is eliminated monthly, as menstruation, and the basalis persists and gives rise to the new endometrium, under hormonal influence.

Only in the last few years, have endometrial cells been better characterized. Chan et al. (2004), reported epithelial and stromal cells that were isolated from the endometrium and cultured in vitro. Both were clonogenic and proliferated in laboratory, but the epithelial cells lost part of their phenotypic markers and needed a feeder layer as the cultures progressed. Meng et al. (2007) published a study with stem cells obtained from the menstrual blood, which showed similar properties. The cells were differentiated into tissues from the three germ layers, indicating their multipotentiality in vitro, and therefore were named endometrial regenerative cells (ERC). Shortly after, Patel et al. (2008) published a more complete study, in which stromal stem cells, again isolated from menstrual blood (MenSCs), were expanded in vitro, and showed clonogenic properties and ability to differentiate into mesoderm and ectoderm derived-tissues. They also demonstrated that the MenSCs expressed markers of pluripotency, such as Oct-4, SSEA-4 and c-kit,

631

632

633

634

635

636

637

638

639

640

641

642

643

644

645

646

647

648

649

650

651

652

653

654

655

656

657

658

659

660

661

662

663

Table 2

Experimental cell-based therapy for central nervous system disorders.^a

	Disease	Donor cells	Injection site	References
	Stroke	Human umbilical cord blood cells Endogenous neural progenitor and stem cells	IV ^b or local Mobilization	Chen et al. (2001), Borlongan (2004) Erlandsson et al. (2010)
		Immortalized neural stem cells from culture Differentiated embryonic stem cells Neural progenitor cells from fetal tissue Mesenchymal cells from bone marrow Menstrual blood stem cells Mesenchymal cells from adipose tissue	Vitit CSA ^C Local Local and IV IV IV or local Local	Borlongan and Tajima (1998) Takagi (2005) Jin (2005) Wu et al. (2008b) Borlongan (2010) Leu (2010), Ikegame (2011)
Q31	Multiple sclerosis	Neural precursor/stem cells	ICV ^d ; IV; IV and	Einstein et al. (2009), Carbajal et al. (2010), Pluchino et al. (2009)
Q32 Q33 Q34		Bone marrow mesenchymal cells Adipose tissue-derived MSC ^f Genetically engineered bone marrow stem cells Genetically engineered MSC Fetal glial cells	IT ^e IV IV IV ICV Site of demyelination	Bai et al. (2009), Rafei et al. (2009) Constantin et al. (2009) Makar et al. (2009) Barhum et al. (2010) Gout and Dubois-Dalcq (1993)
Q35 Q36 Q37 Q38 Q39 Q40 Q41	Parkinson's disease	Genetically engineered MSC Neural stem cells differentiated from ESC ^g Genetically engineered embryonic stem cells Human umbilical cord tissue neural cells Bone marrow-derived neural stem cells iPS ^h cells Umbilical cord tissue MSC Human umbilical cord blood cells Human endometrium-derived neural cells Human amniotic epithelial cells	Striatum Striatum Striatum Striatum Striatum Striatum IV Striatum Striatum	Shi et al. (2010), Somoza et al. (2010) Yang et al. (2008, 2010a) Cui et al. (2010) Li et al. (2010b) Zou et al. (2010), Glavaski-Joksimovic et al. (2009) Glavaski-Joksimovic et al. (2010), Xu et al. (2010b) Xiong et al. (2010) Ende and Chen (2002) Wolff (2010) Yang et al. (2010b)
Q42 Q43 Q44 Q45 Q46	Huntington's disease	Sertoli cells Fetal neural tissue Neural stem cells differentiated from ESC Genetically engineered mesenchymal cells Bone marrow mesenchymal cells Sertoli cells	Striatum Striatum Striatum Striatum Striatum Striatum	Borlongan et al. (1997), Sanberg et al. (1997) Lim et al. (2008) Vazey et al. (2010) Dey (2010) Snyder et al. (2010) Rodriguez et al. (2003)
Q47 Q48	Alzheimer's disease	Fetal neural tissue Bone marrow MSC Neural stem cells differentiated from ESC	Hippoc ⁱ ; forebrain; cortex IC ⁱ IC	Ryu (2009), Xuan et al. (2009), Wu et al. (2008b) Lee et al. (2010) Moghadan et al. (2009)
Q49 Q50 Q51	Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis	Human umbilical cord blood cells Bone marrow adult c-kit+ stem cells Adipose tissue-derived stem cells Neural stem cells Neural cells from teratocarcinoma cell line Mesenchymal cells	IV IV IV; IT Intraspinal ICM ^k ; IV IV	Garbuzova-Davis et al. (2003, 2008) Corti et al. (2010) Gu et al. (2010) Mitrecic (2010), Hwang et al. (2009) Garbuzova-Davis et al. (2006) Kim et al. (2010), Vercelli et al. (2008), Zhao et al. (2007) Deshande et al. (2006)
Q32	Spinal cord injury	Motor neurons differentiated from ESC Sertoli cells	Intraspinal Intraspinal Site of injury	López-González et al. (2009) Hemendinger et al. (in press)
Q53	Spinar Coru Injury	Fetal umbilical cord tissue cells Neural cells derived from human ESC Epidermal neural crest stem cells	Site of injury Site of injury Site of injury Site of injury	Erdogan et al. (2010) Erceg et al. (2010) Erceg et al. (2010), Marques et al. (2010) Sieber-Blum (2010)
Q54		Neural stem cells iPS cells	Site of injury Site of injury	Abematsu et al. (2010) Tsuji et al. (2010)
Q55		Olfactory ensheating cells Mesenchymal cells from adipose tissue	Site of injury	Ramon-Cueto et al. (1998), Jeffery et al. (2005) Kang (2006), Ryu (2009)

^a Here are listed most of the available experimental studies on cell therapy for central nervous system disorders. Parkinson's and Huntington's disease focus on local delivery of less mature cell sources (embryonic/fetal tissue), since long-term graft survival is necessary to provide functional replacement. For diseases in which inflammation has a more pronounced role, such as stroke, multiple sclerosis, and probably ALS, adult stem cell sources are mostly used, aiming to modulate the inflammatory response. Mesenchymal cells are an exception, since although adult stem cells, they are usually well tolerated by the host immune system, and have immunomodulatory properties. These cells can also be differentiated into specialized cell types or be manipulated by genetic engineering prior to delivery, acquiring a more specific function. ^b IV: intravenous cell delivery.

^c CSA: cyclosporine A.

^d ICV: intracerebroventricular delivery of cells.

^e IT: intrathecal delivery of cells.

MSC: mesenchymal stromal cells.

^g ESC: embryonic stem cells.

^h iPS: induced pluripotent stem cells.

ⁱ hippoc: hippocampus.

IC: intracerebral delivery of cells. j

^k ICM: intracisterna magna delivery of cells.

¹ hUC: human umbilical cord.

7

ARTICLE IN PRESS

M.C.O. Rodrigues et al. / Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews xxx (2011) xxx-xxx

Table 3

Clinical stem cell applications for central nervous system disorders.^a

_	Disease		Injection site	References
)56	Ischemic stroke	Bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells	IV ^b	Bang et al. (2005)
257		Bone marrow hematopoietic stem cells	IV	Banerjee (2011)
201		NT2N from immortalized cell line	Local	Kondziolka et al. (2000)
258 259 260	Multiple sclerosis	Bone marrow hematopoietic stem cells Bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells	IV IV ITC IV	Burt et al. (2009), Fassas et al. (2002), Hamerschlak et al. (2010) Yamout et al. (2010), Liang et al. (2009) Zhong (2000)
761		Menstruar blood stroniar cens	11 , 10	Zhông (2005)
201	Parkinson's disease	Fetal neural tissue	Striatum	Lindvall (1989). Madrazo (1990)
202		Bone marrow mesenchymal cells	SLV ^d	Venkataramana (2010)
	Unitington's disease	Fotal poural tissue	Striatum	Callina et al. (2010). Canatian et al. (2000)
Q63	Huntington's uisease		Striatuin	Galifia et al. (2010), Capetiali et al. (2009)
204		Neural cells derived from ESC ^e	Striatum	Aubry et al. (2009)
264	AISg	Olfactory ensheating cells (OEC)	IV	Camez et al. (2010)
265	ALS [®]	Mesonghymal colls	IV	Camer et al. (2010) Maggini et al. (2010)
		Niesenchymai cens	IV, IIIUaspillai	Gdillez et al. (2010), Mazzilli et al. (2010)
266		Bone marrow stem cells	IV	Appel et al. (2008), Deda et al. (2009)
267		Autologous bone marrow stem cells	Mobilization w/G-CSF ¹	Tarella et al. (2010), Nefussy et al. (2010)
-		Autologous CD133+ bone marrow cells	Motor cortex	Martinez et al. (2009)
268	Cainel condiniums	Massa shumal hana mamauu aali	IT	Kishlastal (2010)
269	Spinal cord injury	wesenchymai bone marrow cell		
Q70		Olfactory ensheating cells (autologous)	Site of injury	Feron et al. (2005), Jeffery et al. (2005)

^a List of most of the available clinical applications of stem cells for the treatment of central nervous system disorders.

^b IV: intravenous cell delivery.

^c IT: intrathecal cell delivery.

^d SLV: sublateral ventricular area cell delivery.

e ESC: embryonic stem cells.

664

665

666

667

668

669

670

671

672

673

674

675

676

677

678

679

680

681

682

683

684

685

686

687

688

689

690

69

692

693

694

695

696

697

698

699

700

701

^f G-CSF: granulocyte-colony stimulating factor (filgrastim).

g ALS: amyotrophic lateral sclerosis.

which are frequently found in more immature cell types, including the embryonic stem cells.

Cervelló et al. (2010) isolated, through flow cytometry of Hoechst-stained endometrium cells, epithelial and stromal cell enriched side populations. The cells were characterized in vitro, and showed a high clonogenic and proliferative potential, especially when exposed to hypoxic conditions, which mimic the endometrial environment. However, when the cells were studied in vivo, injected subcutaneously in immunodeficient mice, they showed limited proliferative and differentiation potentials. Masuda et al. (2010) studied the same side population of cells and conducted similar studies. The cells were implanted under the kidney capsule of female mice and, after estrogen stimulus, human tissue development was observed in few animals. The authors demonstrated the differentiation of the side-population cells into glandular epithelial, stromal and, for the first time, endothelial cells, since small and medium sized vessels co-expressing CD31 and human vimentin were observed. Although detectable, their differentiation capacity in vivo was considered poor and better proliferative results were obtained when the cells were combined with the remaining population (main population) of endometrial cells. These findings, taken together with existing data from literature, suggest that a multiple factors derived from the endometrium, instead of a single cell type, cooperate for the therapeutic properties of this tissue.

That stem cells derived from menstrual blood can be categorized based on their phenotypic and proliferative properties has been a hotly debated topic. As an example, Murphy et al. (2008) believe that the endometrial regenerative cells (ERC) isolated by them are not the same as the endometrial stromal cells described by Taylor (2004), but may share overlapping properties and may even be equivalent cells as those reported by other studies (Meng et al., 2007; Patel et al., 2008; Wolff et al., 2010). Endometrial regenerative cells, for instance, express low concentrations of the Stro-1 marker and exhibit higher proliferative capacity than other endometrial-derived cells. According to Taylor (2004), stromal cells found in the endometrium originate from the bone marrow, as observed in recipients of allogeneic bone marrow transplantation. The findings were later reproduced in female rats transplanted with GFP bone marrow cells, which presented GFP cells in the endometrium long after transplantation (Bratincsák et al., 2007). In practical matters, however, they seem to have similar effects and comparable therapeutic abilities to promote repair when applied in vivo (Table 4).

The angiogenic potential of the endometrium-derived cells is very relevant for the experimental investigations of vascular growth and remodeling and, perhaps, even for designing clinical therapeutic studies, as these cells might be applied to cardiovascular diseases. In fact, Hida et al. (2008) published their experience with menstrual blood-derived stromal cells in damaged heart tissue, in which they were able to in vitro differentiate the cells into spontaneously beating cardiomyocyte-like cells. When menstrual blood cells were injected in the ischemic tissue of myocardial infarct rat models, functional improvement was noted, differently than what was observed when bone marrow stromal cells were used. Finally, the authors also reported evidences of cell engraftment and transdifferentiation into cardiac tissue. Some authors propose to take advantage of the angiogenic potential of these cells, applying them to the treatment of chronic limb ischemia and, more recently, severe skin burns, using the cells associated to intelligent artificial films (Drago et al., 2010; Murphy et al., 2008).

In the nervous system context, Borlongan et al. (2010), very recently published the results of menstrual blood cell transplantation in experimental stroke. Stromal-like menstrual blood stem cells were isolated, expanded and, at last, selected for CD117, a marker associated with high proliferation, migration and survival (Cho et al., 2004). In vitro studies showed that the expanded cells maintained expression of embryonic-like stem cell phenotypic markers, such as Oct-4, SSEA-4 and Nanog, even when cultured up to nine passages, as an evidence of the safety and reliability of these cells, and some were induced to express neural markers (MAP2 and Nestin). Moreover, when added to culture rat neurons exposed to a hypoxic insult, the menstrual blood cells provided neuroprotection and when applied to rat stroke models, less neurologic deficit was observed on behavioral tests, irrespective of the injection site, *i.e.* systemic or local administration into the striatum. However, analysis of the tissue, after animal sacrifice, revealed that although 702

Table 4

745

747

748

751

752

781

782

Evolution of endometrial/menstrual blood stem cells investigations.^a

Year	Event	Reference
1978	First description of stem cells in the endometrial tissue based on the observations of the monthly tissue shedding	Prianishnikov (1978)
1991	Supports the idea of stem cells in the endometrial tissue based on the potential of the endometrial cells to migrate and generate new tissue in endometriosis	Padykula (1991)
2004	Isolation and culture of epithelial and stromal cells from the endometrium. Observed clonogenicity and in vitro proliferation	Chan et al. (2004)
2007	Isolation and culture of cells from menstrual blood, similar to cells isolated from the endometrium. Differentiation into the three germ layers	Meng et al. (2007)
2007	Intramuscular application of human endometrial and menstrual blood-derived cells in a murine model of Duchenne muscular	Cui et al. (2007)
	dystrophy. In vitro and in vivo demonstration of fusion of injected cells to myoblasts and production of human dystrophin by	
	the treated muscle	
2008	Isolation, culture and differentiation of menstrual blood stromal cells into mesodermal and ectodermal tissues. Expression of markers of immature cell types	Patel et al. (2008)
2008	Differentiation of menstrual blood stromal cells into spontaneously beating cardiomyocytes in vitro. Functional improvement of myocardial infarct rat models and in vivo evidence of cell engraftment and differentiation	Hida et al. (2008)
2009	Safety study of intravenous/intrathecal administration of endometrium-derived stromal cells in refractory multiple sclerosis patients. No adverse effects observed. Clinical stabilization in short follow-up period	Zhong et al. (2009)
2010	Menstrual blood stromal cells expressed neural markers in vitro. Neuroprotection of neural tissue cultures when menstrual	Borlongan et al. (2010)
	blood cells were added. Functional improvement of rat model of stroke, with migration of cells to the site of injury, but without evidence of cell differentiation	
2010	Endometrial-derived stem cells injected in a rat model of Parkinson's disease. Evidence of migration, engraftment and differentiation, along with increased concentrations of striatal dopamine	Wolff et al. (2010)

^a List of the publications on endometrium-derived stem cells, from the first report of the existence of stem cells in such tissue, to the clinical applications of these cells.

human cells were detected in the rat brain, some migrating to areas 740 other than the injected, they did not show signs of differentiation, 741 expressing their original markers. Once more, there is evidence that 742 cell differentiation is not the main pathway of neuroprotection or 743 neuroregeneration. 744

Wolff et al. (2010) reported the use of endometrial-derived neural cells in a Parkinson's disease mouse model. Endometrial-derived 746 stromal cells were differentiated in vitro into dopamine-producing cells, and then engrafted into the brain of the animals. Migration, differentiation and production of dopamine were detected in vivo, 749 demonstrating the therapeutic potential of these cells to function-750 ally restore the damaged tissue, either through cell replacement or endogenous repair.

The only clinical study yet published evaluated the safety 753 aspects of endometrial-derived stromal cells administration 754 (Zhong et al., 2009). Four patients with multiple sclerosis were 755 treated with intrathecal injections of 16-30 million cells and one 756 of the patients also received an additional intravenous injection. 757 No adverse events were registered, as expected, and the authors 758 reported functional stabilization. However, the longest follow-up 759 reached 12 months, and any conclusions about effectiveness of the 760 treatment seem premature in this long-term and slowly progres-761 sive illness. 762

Taken together, the available evidence regarding menstrual 763 blood-derived cells favor their future application in clinical studies. 764 In comparison to stem cells from other sources, especially those 765 from the bone marrow, menstrual blood-derived stem cells have 766 the advantage of presenting a more immature phenotype, through 767 the expression of embryonic-like surface markers. Their immature 768 behavior is confirmed by in vitro differentiation studies, in which 769 menstrual blood-derived cells give rise to diverse tissue types from 770 all three germ layers (Patel et al., 2008; Meng et al., 2007). More-771 over, they seem to have a higher proliferative capacity, above 30 772 773 population doublings, when compared to stromal cells from other sources, such as the bone marrow and dental pulp, which are 774 limited to approximately 20 population doublings (Gargett et al., 775 776 2009). Additionally, cultured menstrual blood cells maintain longer telomerase activity than bone marrow-derived cells (Patel et al., 777 2008). These observations may reflect higher regenerative and dif-778 779 ferentiation potentials in vivo, yet to be confirmed by comparative 780 studies between stromal cells from different sources.

Strong competitors to menstrual blood cells are the adipose tissue MSC, lately investigated as alternatives to bone marrow MSC. These cells present high proliferative capacity and angiogenic potential possibly through expression of VEGF and hepatocyte growth factor (HGF). Experimental models of chronic myocardial infarction (Mazo et al., 2008), limb ischemia (Moon et al., 2006; Nakagami et al., 2005), stroke (Leu et al., 2010; Ikegame et al., 2011), spinal cord injury (Kang et al., 2006; Ryu et al., 2009) and retinal lesions (Xugian et al., 2011), among others, have shown optimistic results about the regenerative potential of adipose tissue cells. The few human studies available establish safety of these cells and reproduce the animal outcomes (Poliachenko et al., 2010; Ra et al., 2011). In vitro studies, however, have revealed high proliferative rates, but with conflicting results regarding senescence (Gargett et al., 2009; Kern et al., 2006). Comparative evaluations among cells from different sources, especially concerning disposable tissues, are necessary to effectively determine which is the best cell type. In the future, better understanding the properties and mechanistic pathways may allow the cell types to be chosen according to their application. Meanwhile, abundance, frequency and expansion potential of the cells seem to be important criteria in establishing the best cell source (Kern et al., 2006). In this sense, menstrual blood and adipose tissue cells may be equivalent, the former bearing the advantage of dispensing any invasive procedure to be collected, and the latter of being available in both sexes.

9. Limitations and practical issues

Menstrual cells are a novel therapeutic option in this field and have great potential, as already demonstrated through experimental studies. In the clinic, the application of autologous stem cells derived from menstrual blood would be ideal to avoid graft rejection issues. However, the low yield and difficulty in expansion of ample supply of stem cells from this source is a barrier to be transposed. Although presenting high proliferation rates, the cells require time to multiply and achieve sufficient quantities for clinical applications, therefore limiting autologous use. Moreover, this approach would be restricted to the female population. Males and post-menopausal women, which are the main targets of stroke and neurodegenerative diseases, would be excluded from the therapy. A feasible solution would be to educate the female pre-menopausal population about the potential of the menstrual cells and, therefore, stimulate the anticipated harvesting and cryopreservation of the cells, for future autologous use. For the male population, however, there remain the options of using allogeneic menstrual blood

783

784

785

786

787

788

789

790

79[.]

792

793

794

795

796

797

798

790

800

801

802

803

804

805

806

807

808

809

810

811

812

813

814

815

816

817

818

819

820

821

822

823

cells and of searching for an alternative source of cells or a male counterpart cell.

An ideal scenario would be a woman, affected by a stroke, with autologous menstrual blood-derived cells previously collected, expanded up to third passage and cryopreserved. In a few days these cells would be thawed, further expanded if necessary, and available for intravenous delivery in adequate time for their best effectiveness in the rescue of the penumbra area. In a more realistic setting, the patient would be a man or a woman without stored cells and lacking enough time for harvesting and expansion. These would still benefit from the use of allogeneic cells which, being stromal cells, present low immunogenicity and, therefore, tolerable rejection rates. Similar approaches would be reasonable for Parkinson's disease, since women are mostly affected after menopause. For Huntington's disease, gene screening would allow the female carrier the opportunity of autologous cell storage before onset of symptoms.

For a stroke-affected patient, the slightest improvement in neu-841 rological function can be decisive for self-sufficiency and, even, for 842 ability to work, which are ultimately translated into financial inde-843 pendence. Therefore, investing in cell banking as a safety measure 844 845 against possible future events may be a wise and even profitable step. While cell banking is already widely accessible for umbilical 846 cord blood, only recently has it also become available for men-847 strual blood cells and, yet, limited to autologous or, at most, familiar 848 use. It is possible, however, to expand the availability of menstrual 849 blood cells to a wider population of allogeneic recipients. Women in 850 child-bearing age may donate samples of menstrual blood, enabling 851 storage of multiple HLA-typed cells for future use. As a further pos-852 sibility, the cells could be expanded and differentiated into specific 853 tissues and be ready for eventual use (Zhang et al., 2009). An effi-854 cient banking system for menstrual blood cells would require an 855 organized and updated registration system, enabling prompt local-856 ization and rapid retrieval of the cryopreserved cells, just in time 857 for therapeutic use. 858

Cell banking for human use requires precautions to warrant 859 safety and effectiveness of the expanded and stored cells. Cell 860 cultures should be continuously surveilled, not only for prolifer-861 ation and signs of senescence, but also for viability, phenotypic and 862 morphological alterations, microbiological contamination and pos-863 864 Q14 sible chromosomal disruptions (Sensebé et al., 2011). Therefore, strict GMP-compliant procedures should be formally established 865 before the proliferation of cryopreservation companies for men-866 strual blood storage, as well as for preservation of cells from other 867 868 sources.

10. Concluding remarks and future perspectives

Research on cell therapy for stroke has reached great proportions, especially because of the possibility of translational studies, which have already started. Most studies use the knowledge of neuroregenerative areas of the brain, more specifically the hippocampus and, still with some controversy, the subventricular zone to guide their studies, although some have shown cell migration and repair of areas other than those regions considered as exhibiting high neurogenic capacity (Li et al., 2010a; Mezey et al., 2000). Furthermore, it seems clear that the rescue of the penumbra area after stroke is decisive for functional outcome and a great opportunity for cell therapy. Stem cells promote neuroprotection especially through modulation of the activated immune system. Tissue repair is also described and, although cell differentiation is observed in the experimental setting, its importance to the final outcome of the treatment is still undefined.

Menstrual cells combine characteristics that are convenient for clinical application and, in parallel with cells derived from other disposable tissues, may have a role in the future investigations. Despite the potential challenges still to be solved, the menstrual cells represent an important therapeutic tool that may improve the outcome of stroke and other neurodegenerative diseases, and decrease the disability of future patients. Experimental studies should be extended aiming to increase the knowledge about the mechanisms of action of these cells to allow optimization of the cells' therapeutic outcome.

Disclosures

CVB and PRS serve as consultants, and PRS is a co-founder of Saneron-CCEL Therapeutics, Inc., and CVB, PRS, and JGA have a patent application in this area, owned jointly by Cryo-Cell International, Inc. and Saneron-CCEL Therapeutics, Inc. Cryo-Cell International, Inc. provided the foundational menstrual stem cell technology in the patent applications of M.A. Walton and JGA wholly owned by Cryo-Cell International, Inc.

Uncited reference

Rothwell and Luheshi (2000).	904

Acknowledgement

CVB and SGD are funded by James and Esther King Biomedical Research Program, CVB and PRS have a patent application on menstrual blood stem cells for stroke therapy. CVB, PRS, and SGD are consultants of Saneron-CCEL Therapeutics Inc. The authors express their gratitude to Ms. Cate Bae for technical assistance in the preparation of this manuscript.

References

- Abematsu, M., Tsujimura, K., Yamano, M., et al., 2010. Neurons derived from transplanted neural stem cells restore disrupted neuronal circuitry in a mouse model **016** 914 of spinal cord injury. J. Clin. Invest. 120, 3255-3266.
- Alexandrov, A.V., Burgin, W.S., Demchuk, A.M., El-Mitwalli, A., Grotta, J.C., 2001. Speed of intracranial clot lysis with intravenous tissue plasminogen activator therapy, sonographic classification and short-term improvement. Circulation 103.2897-2902.
- Alexi, T., Borlongan, C.V., Faull, R.L., et al., 2000, Neuroprotective strategies for basal ganglia degeneration: Parkinson's and Huntington's diseases. Prog. Neurobiol. 60 409-470
- Amor, S., Puentes, F., Baker, D., van der Valk, P., 2010. Inflammation in neurodegenerative diseases. Immunology 129, 154-169.
- Androutsellis-Theotokis, A., Rueger, M.A., Park, D.M., 2010. Angiogenic factors stimulate growth of adult neural stem cells. PLoS One 5, e9414.
- Antonucci, I., Stuppia, L., Kaneko, Y., et al., 2010. Amniotic fluid as rich source of mesenchymal stromal cells for transplantation therapy. Cell Transplant. [Epub **Q17** 928 ahead of printl.
- Arboleda-Velasquez, J.F., Zhou, Z., Shin, H.K., et al., 2008. Linking Notch signaling to ischemic stroke. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 105, 4856-4861.
- Appel, S.H., Engelhardt, J.I., Henkel, J.S., et al., 2008. Hematopoietic stem cell transplantation in patients with sporadic amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Neurology 71, 1326-1334.
- Arenas, E., 2010. Towards stem cell replacement therapies for Parkinson's disease. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 396, 152-156.
- Asplund, K., Stegmayr, B., Peltonen, M., 1998. From the twentieth to the twenty-first century: a public health perspective on stroke. In: Ginsberg, M.D., Bogousslavsky, J. (Eds.), Cerebrovascular Disease Pathophysiology, Diagnosis, and Management. Blackwell Science, MA, pp. 901-918.
- Atochin, D.N., Fisher, D., Demchenko, I.T., Thom, S.R., 2000. Neutrophil sequestration and the effect of hyperbaric oxygen in a rat model of temporary middle cerebral artery occlusion. Undersea Hyperb. Med. 27, 185-190.
- Aubry, L., Peschanski, M., Perrier, A.L., 2009. Human embryonic-stem-cell-derived striatal graft for Huntington's disease cell therapy. Med. Sci. (Paris) 25, 333-335.
- Bai, L., Lennon, D.P., Eaton, V., et al., 2009. Human bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells induce Th2-polarized immune response and promote endogenous repair in animal models of multiple sclerosis. Glia 57, 1192-1203. Banerjee, S., Williamson, D., Habib, N., Gordon, M., Chataway, J., 2011. Human stem
- cell therapy in ischaemic stroke: a review. Age Ageing 40, 7-13 Bang, O.Y., Lee, J.S., Lee, P.H., Lee, G., 2005. Autologous mesenchymal stem cell trans-
- plantation in stroke patients. Ann. Neurol. 57, 874-882. Banwell, S., Sena, E.S., Macleod, M.R., 2009. Systematic review and stratified meta-
- analysis of the efficacy of interleukin-1 receptor antagonist in animal models of stroke. J. Stroke Cerebrovasc. Dis. 18, 269-276.

Please cite this article in press as: Rodrigues, M.C.O., et al., Recent progress in cell therapy for basal ganglia disorders with emphasis on menstrual blood transplantation in stroke. Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev. (2011), doi:10.1016/j.neubiorev.2011.05.010

10

824

825

826

827

828

820

830

831

832

833

834

835

836

837

838

839

840

869

870

871

872

873

874

875

876

877

878

879

880

881

882

883

884

885

886

890 891 802

888

889

803 804

895 896

897

898

899

900

901

902

905

906

907

908

909

910

911

912

913

915

916

917

918

919

920

921

922

923

924

925

926

927

929

930

931

932

933

934

935

936

937

938

939

940

941

942

943

944

945

946

947

948

949

950

951

952

953

954

955

015 903

957 958

959

960

961

962

963

964

965

966

967

968

970

971

972

973

974 975

976

977

978

979

980

981

982

983

984

985

986 987

988

989

990

991

992

993

994

995

996

997

998 999

1000

1001

1002

1003

1004

1005

1006

1007

1008

1009

1010

1011

1012

1013

1014

1015

1016

1017

1018

1019

1020

1021

1022

1023

1024 1025

1026

1027

1028

1029

1030

1031

1032

1033

1034

1035

1036

1037

1038

1039

1040

1041

RTICLE IN PRES

M.C.O. Rodrigues et al. / Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews xxx (2011) xxx-xxx

11

Daar, A.S., Bhatt, A., Court, E., Singer, P.A., 2004. Stem cell research and transplanta-1042 1043 Deda, H., Inci, M.C., Kürekçi, A.E., et al., 2009. Treatment of amyotrophic lateral 1044 sclerosis patients by autologous bone marrow-derived hematopoietic stem cell 1045 1046 Deshpande, D.M., Kim, Y.S., Martinez, T., et al., 2006. Recovery from paralysis in adult 1047 1048 Detante, O., Moisan, A., Dimastromatteo, J., et al., 2009. Intravenous administration 1049 of 99mTc-HMPAO-labeled human mesenchymal stem cells after stroke: in vivo 1050 105 Dey, N.D., Bombard, M.C., Roland, B.P., et al., 2010. Genetically engineered mes-1052 enchymal stem cells reduce behavioral deficits in the YAC128 mouse model of 1053 1054 Drago, H., Marín, H., Sturla, F., et al., 2010. The next generation of burns treatment, 1055 intelligent films and matrix, controlled enzymatic debridement, and adult stem 1056 1057 Einstein, O., Friedman-Levi, Y., Grigoriadis, N., Ben-Hur, T., 2009. Transplanted neu-1058 ral precursors enhance host brain-derived myelin regeneration. J. Neurosci. 29, 1059 1060 106 1062

1064

1065

1066

1067

1068

1069

1070

1071

1072

1074

1075

1076

1077

1078

1079

1080

1081

1082

1083

1084

1085

1086

1087

1088

1089

1090

1091

1092

1093

1094

1095

1096

1097

1098

1099

1100

1101

1102

1103

1104

1105

1106

1107

1108

1109

1110

1111

1112

1113

1114

1115

1116

1117

1118

1119

1120

1121

1122

1123

1124

1125

1126

1127

- Emsley, C.A., Smith, C.J., Tyrrell, P.J., Hopkins, S.J., 2008. Inflammation in acute ischemic stroke and its relevance to stroke critical care. Neurocrit. Care 9, 1063
- 125-138. Ende, N., Chen, R., 2002. Parkinson's disease mice and human umbilical cord blood. J. Med. 33, 173-180.

tion: science leading ethics. Transplant. Proc. 36, 2504-2506.

transplantation: a 1-year follow-up. Cytotherapy 11, 18-25.

imaging and biodistribution. Cell Transplant. 18, 1369-1379.

rats using embryonic stem cells. Ann. Neurol. 60, 32-44.

Huntington's disease. Behav. Brain Res. 214, 193-200.

cells. Transplant. Proc. 42, 345-349.

15694-15702.

Erceg, S., Ronaghi, M., Oria, M., et al., 2010. Transplanted oligodendrocytes and motoneuron progenitors generated from human embryonic stem cells promote locomotor recovery after spinal cord transection. Stem Cells 28, 1541-1549.

Erdogan, B., Bavbek, M., Sahin, I.F., 2010. Fetal allogeneic umbilical cord cell transplantation improves motor function in spinal cord-injured rats. Turk. Neurosurg. 20 286-294

- Erlandsson, A., Lin, A., Yu, F., Morshead, C.M., 2010. Immunosuppression promotes endogenous neural stem and progenitor cell migration and tissue regeneration Q191073 after ischemic injury. Exp. Neurol. [Epub ahead of print].
- Fan, H., Li, L., Zhang, X., Liu, Y., Yang, C., Yang, Y., Yin, J., 2009. Oxymatrine downregulates TLR4, TLR2, MyD88, and NF-kappaB and protects rat brains against focal ischemia. Mediators Inflamm. 2009, 704-706.
- Fan, Y., Shen, F., Frenzel, T., et al., 2010. Endothelial progenitor cell transplantation improves long-term stroke outcome in mice. Ann. Neurol. 67, 488-497.

Faraji, J., Lehmann, H., Metz, G.A., Sutherland, R.J., 2009. Stress and corticosterone enhance cognitive recovery from hippocampal stroke in rats. Neurosci. Lett. 462, 248-252.

Fassas, A., Passweg, J.R., Anagnostopoulos, A., et al., 2002. Hematopoietic stem cell transplantation for multiple sclerosis. A retrospective multicenter study. J. Neurol 249 1088-1097

Faulkner, J.R., Herrmann, J.E., Woo, M.J., et al., 2004. Reactive astrocytes protect tissue and preserve function after spinal cord injury. J. Neurosci. 24, 2143-2155.

- Felfly, H., Muotri, A., Yao, H., Haddad, G.G., 2010. Hematopoietic stem cell transplantation protects mice from lethal stroke. Exp. Neurol. 225, 284-293.
- Feron, F., Perry, C., Cochrane, J., et al., 2005. Autologous olfactory ensheathing cell transplantation in human spinal cord injury. Brain 128, 2951–2960.
- Fricker-Gates, R.A., Gates, M.A., 2010. Stem cell-derived dopamine neurons for brain repair in Parkinson's disease. Regen. Med. 5, 267-278.
- Friling, S., Andersson, E., Thompson, L.H., et al., 2009. Efficient production of mesencephalic dopamine neurons by Lmx1a expression in embryonic stem cells. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 106, 7613-7618.

Fujiwara, Y., Tanaka, N., Ishida, O., et al., 2004. Intravenously injected neural progenitor cells of transgenic rats can migrate to the injured spinal cord and differentiate into neurons, astrocytes and oligodendrocytes. Neurosci. Lett. 366, 287-291.

- Gallina, P., Paganini, M., Lombardini, L., et al., 2010. Human striatal neuroblasts develop and build a striatal-like structure into the brain of Huntington's disease patients after transplantation. Exp. Neurol. 222, 30-41.
- Gamez, J., Carmona, F., Raguer, N., et al., 2010. Cellular transplants in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis patients: an observational study. Cytotherapy 12, 669–677.
- Garbuzova-Davis, S., Willing, A.E., Zigova, T., et al., 2003. Intravenous administration of human umbilical cord blood cells in a mouse model of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis distribution, migration and differentiation. J. Hematot. Stem Cell Res. 12,255-270
- Garbuzova-Davis, S., Willing, A.E., Saporta, S., et al., 2006. Multiple transplants of hNT cells into the spinal cord of SOD1 mouse model of familial amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Amyotroph. Lateral Scler. 7, 221-226.
- Garbuzova-Davis, S., Sanberg, C.D., Kuzmin-Nichols, N., et al., 2008. Human umbilical cord blood treatment in a mouse model of ALS: optimization of cell dose. PLoS One 3. e2494.
- Gargett, C.E., Schwab, K.E., Zillwood, R.M., Nguyen, H.P., Wu, D., 2009. Isolation and culture of epithelial progenitors and mesenchymal stem cells from human endometrium. Biol. Reprod. 80, 1136-1145.

Gerbal-Chaloin, S., Duret, C., Raulet, E., et al., 2010. Isolation and culture of adult human liver progenitor cells, in vitro differentiation to hepatocyte-like cells. Methods Mol. Biol. 640, 247-260.

Glavaski-Joksimovic, A., Virag, T., Chang, Q.A., et al., 2009. Reversal of dopaminergic degeneration in a parkinsonian rat following micrografting of human bone marrow-derived neural progenitors. Cell Transplant. 18, 801-814.

Glavaski-Joksimovic, A., Virag, T., Mangatu, T.A., et al., 2010. Glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor-secreting genetically modified human bone marrowderived mesenchymal stem cells promote recovery in a rat model of Parkinson's disease. J. Neurosci. Res. 88, 2669-2681.

Barhum, Y., Gai-Castro, S., Bahat-Stromza, M., et al., 2010. Intracerebroventricular transplantation of human mesenchymal stem cells induced to secrete neurotrophic factors attenuates clinical symptoms in a mouse model of multiple sclerosis. J. Mol. Neurosci. 41, 129-137. Barzilay, R., Levy, Y.S., Melamed, E., Offen, D., 2006. Adult stem cells for neuronal

repair. Isr. Med. Assoc. J. 8, 61-66.

Björklund, A., Stenevi, U., Dunnett, S.B., Iversen, S.D., 1981. Functional reactivation of the deafferented neostriatum by nigral transplants. Nature 289, 497-499.

- Björklund, A., Lindvall, O., 2000. Cell replacement therapies for central nervous system disorders. Nat. Neurosci. 3, 537-544.
- Björklund, A., Cenci, M.A., 2010. Recent advances in Parkinson's disease: basic research. Prog. Brain Res. 183, ix-x.
- Boltze, J., Kowalski, I., Geiger, K., et al., 2008. Experimental treatment of stroke in 969 **018** spontaneously hypertensive rats by CD34+ and CD34- cord blood cells. Ger. Med. Sci. 3. Doc 09.

Borlongan, C.V., Cameron, D.F., Saporta, S., Sanberg, P.R., 1997. Intracerebral transplantation of testis-derived sertoli cells promotes functional recovery in female rats with 6-hydroxydopamine-induced hemiparkinsonism. Exp. Neurol. 148, 388-392

- Borlongan, C.V., Koutouzis, T.K., Poulos, S.G., Saporta, S., Sanberg, P.R., 1998a. Bilateral fetal striatal grafts in the 3-nitropropionic acid-induced hypoactive model of Huntington's disease. Cell Transplant. 7, 131-137.
- Borlongan, C.V., Tajima, Y., Trojanowski, J.Q., Lee, V.M., Sanberg, P.R., 1998b. Transplantation of cryopreserved human embryonal carcinoma-derived neurons (NT2N cells) promotes functional recovery in ischemic rats. Exp. Neurol. 149, . 310–321.
- Borlongan, C.V., Stahl, C.E., Freeman, T.B., Hauser, R.A., Sanberg, P.R., 1999. Neural transplantation and Huntington's disease, what can we learn from the 3-nitropionic acid model. In: Sanberg, P.R., Nishino, H., Borlongan, C.V. (Eds.), Mitochondrial Inhibitors and Neurodegenerative Disorders. Humana Press, NJ, pp. 275-292.
- Borlongan, C.V., Hadman, M., Sanberg, C.D., Sanberg, P.R., 2004. Central nervous system entry of peripherally injected umbilical cord blood cells is not required for neuroprotection in stroke. Stroke 35, 2385-2389.
- Borlongan, C.V., Kaneko, Y., Maki, M., et al., 2010. Menstrual blood cells display stem cell-like phenotypic markers and exert neuroprotection following transplantation in experimental stroke. Stem Cells Dev. 19, 439-451.
- Bratincsák, A., Brownstein, M.J., Cassiani-Ingoni, R., et al., 2007. CD45-positive blood cells give rise to uterine epithelial cells in mice. Stem Cells 25, 2820-2826.
- Brochard, V., Combadière, B., Prigent, A., et al., 2009. Infiltration of CD4+ lymphocytes into the brain contributes to neurodegeneration in a mouse model of Parkinson disease, I. Clin, Invest, 119, 182-192.
- Burt, R.K., Loh, Y., Cohen, B., et al., 2009. Autologous non-myeloablative haemopoietic stem cell transplantation in relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis: a phase I/II study, Lancet Neurol, 8, 244-253.
- Capetian, P., Knoth, R., Maciaczyk, J., et al., 2009. Histological findings on fetal striatal grafts in a Huntington's disease patient early after transplantation. Neuroscience 160.661-675.
- Carbajal, K.S., Schaumburg, C., Strieter, R., Kane, J., Lane, T.E., 2010. Migration of engrafted neural stem cells is mediated by CXCL12 signaling through CXCR4 in a viral model of multiple sclerosis. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 107, 11068–11073.
- Carpenter, C.R., Keim, S.M., Milne, W.K., Meurer, W.J., Barsan, W.G., 2011. The best evidence in emergency medicine investigator group. Thrombolytic therapy for acute ischemic stroke beyond 3 h. J. Emerg. Med. 40, 82-92.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), 1999, Prevalence of disabilities and associated health conditions among adults, United States. MMWR Morb. Mortal, Wklv, Rep. 50, 120-125,
- Cervelló, I., Gil-Sanchis, C., Mas, A., et al., 2010. Human endometrial side population cells exhibit genotypic, phenotypic and functional features of somatic stem cells. PLoS One 5, e10964.
- Chan, R.W., Schwab, K.E., Gargett, C.E., 2004. Clonogenicity of human endometrial epithelial and stromal cells. Biol. Reprod. 70, 1738-1750.
- Chen, J., Sanberg, P.R., Li, Y., et al., 2001. Intravenous administration of umbilical cord blood reduces behavioral deficits after stroke in rats. Stroke 32, 2682-2688.
- Cho, N.H., Park, Y.K., Kim, Y.T., Yang, H., Kim, S.K., 2004. Lifetime expression of stem cell markers in the uterine endometrium. Fertil. Steril. 81, 403-407.
- Connolly Jr., E.S., Winfree, C.J., Springer, T.A., et al., 1996. Cerebral pro-tection in homozygous null ICAM-1 mice after middle cerebral artery occlusion. Role of neutrophil adhesion in the pathogenesis of stroke. J. Clin. Invest. 97, 209-216.
- Connor, B., Dragunow, M., 1998. The role of neuronal growth factors in neurodegenerative disorders of the human brain. Brain Res. Brain Res. Rev. 27, 1-39.
- Constantin, G., Marconi, S., Rossi, B., et al., 2009. Adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells ameliorate chronic experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. Stem Cells 27, 2624-2635.
- Corti, S., Nizzardo, M., Nardini, M., et al., 2010. Systemic transplantation of c-kit+ cells exerts a therapeutic effect in a model of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Hum. Mol. Genet. 19, 3782-3796.
- Cronin, C.A., 2010. Intravenous tissue plasminogen activator for stroke, a review of the ECASS III results in relation to prior clinical trials. J. Emerg. Med. 38, 99-105.
- Cui, C.H., Uyama, T., Miyado, K., et al., 2007. Menstrual blood-derived cells confer human dystrophin expression in the murine model of Duchenne muscular dystrophy via cell fusion and myogenic transdifferentiation. Mol. Biol. Cell 18, 1586-1594.
- Cui, Y.F., Hargus, G., Xu, J.C., et al., 2010. Embryonic stem cell-derived L1 overexpressing neural aggregates enhance recovery in Parkinsonian mice. Brain 133, 189-204.

RTICLE IN PR

1128

1129

1130

1131

1132

1133

1134

1135

1136

1137

1138

1139

1140

1141

1142

1143

1144

1145

1146

1147

1148

1149

1150

1151

1152

1153

1154

1155

1157

1158

1159

1160

1161

1162

1163

1164

1165

1166

1167

1168

1169

1170

1171

1172

1173

1174

1175

1176

1177

1178

1179

1181

1182

1183

1184

1185

1186

1187

1191

1192

1193

1194

1195

1196

1197

1198

1199

1200

1201

1202

1203

1204

1205

1206

1207

1208

1209

1210

1211

1212

1213

M.C.O. Rodrigues et al. / Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews xxx (2011) xxx-xxx

- Govaert, J.A., Swijnenburg, R.J., Schrepfer, S., et al., 2009. Poor functional recovery after transplantation of diabetic bone marrow stem cells in ischemic myocardium. J. Heart Lung Transplant. 28, 1158-1165. Gout, O., Dubois-Dalcq, M., 1993. Directed migration of transplanted glial cells toward a spinal cord demyelinating lesion. Int. J. Dev. Neurosci. 11, 613-623. Green, R.A., Odergren, T., Ashwood, T., 2003. Animal models of stroke: do they have value for discovering neuroprotective agents? Trends Pharmacol. Sci. 24,
- 402-408. Gu, R., Hou, X., Pang, R., Li, L., Chen, F., Geng, J., Xu, Y., Zhang, C., 2010. Human adipose-derived stem cells enhance the glutamate uptake function of GLT1 in SOD1(G93A)-bearing astrocytes. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 393, 481-486
- Guzman, R., Meyer, M., Lovblad, K.O., et al., 1999. Striatal grafts in a rat model of Huntington's disease, time course comparison of MRI and histology. Exp. Neurol. 156.180-190.
- Hacke, W., Kaste, M., Fieschi, C., et al., 1995. Intravenous thrombolysis with recombinant tissue plasminogen activator for acute hemispheric stroke. The European Cooperative Acute Stroke Study (ECASS). JAMA 274, 1017-1025.
- Hacke, W., Kaste, M., Bluhmki, E., et al., 2008. Thrombolysis with alteplase 3 to 4.5 h after acute ischemic stroke. N. Engl. J. Med. 359, 1317-1329.
- Hagell, P., Brundin, P., 2001. Cell survival and clinical outcome following intrastriatal transplantation in Parkinson's disease. J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol. 60, 741-752.
- Hamerschlak, N., Rodrigues, M., Moraes, D.A., et al., 2010. Brazilian experience with two conditioning regimens in patients with multiple sclerosis: BEAM/horse ATG and CY/rabbit ATG. Bone Marrow Transplant. 45, 239-248.
- Hefti, F., 1997. Pharmacology of neurotrophic factors. Annu. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol. 37.239-267.
- 1156 Q20 Hemendinger, R., Wang, J., Malik, S., et al. Sertoli cells improve survival of motor neurons in SOD1 transgenic mice, a model of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Exp. Neurol., in press.
 - Hess, D.C., Borlongan, C.V., 2008. Cell-based therapy in ischemic stroke. Expert Rev. Neurother. 8, 1193-1201.
 - Hida, N., Nishiyama, N., Miyoshi, S., et al., 2008. Novel cardiac precursor-like cells from human menstrual blood-derived mesenchymal cells. Stem Cells 26, 1695-1704.
 - Hill, W.D., Hess, D.C., Martin-Studdard, A., et al., 2004. SDF-1 (CXCL12) is upregulated in the ischemic penumbra following stroke: association with bone marrow cell homing to injury. J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol. 63, 84-96.
 - Hu, S.L., Luo, H.S., Li, J.T., et al., 2010. Functional recovery in acute traumatic spinal cord injury after transplantation of human umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells, Crit, Care Med. 38, 2181-2189.
 - Huang, H.I., Chen, S.K., Ling, Q.D., et al., 2010. Multilineage differentiation potential of fibroblast-like stromal cells derived from human skin. Tissue Eng. Part A 16. 1491-1501.
 - Hurn, P.D., Subramanian, S., Parker, S.M., et al., 2007. T- and B-cell-deficient mice with experimentalstroke have reduced lesion size and inflammation. J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab. 27, 1798-1805.
 - Hwang D.H. Lee H.I. Park I.H. 2009 Intrathecal transplantation of human neural stem cells overexpressing VEGF provide behavioral improvement, disease onset delay and survival extension in transgenic ALS mice. Gene Ther. 16, 1234-1244.
- Ikegame, Y., Yamashita, K., Hayashi, S.I., et al., 2011. Comparison of mesenchymal 1180 Q21 stem cells from adipose tissue and bone marrow for ischemic stroke therapy. Cytotherapy [Epub ahead of print].
 - Jablonska, A., Kozlowska, H., Markiewicz, I., Domanska-Janik, K., Lukomska, B., 2010. Transplantation of neural stem cells derived from human cord blood to the brain of adult and neonatal rats. Acta Neurobiol. Exp. 70, 337-350.
 - Jeffery, N.D., Lakatos, A., Franklin, R.J., 2005. Autologous olfactory glial cell transplantation is reliable and safe in naturally occurring canine spinal cord injury. J. Neurotrauma 22, 1282-1293.
- 1188 Q22 Jiang, M., Lv, L., Ji, H., et al., 2011. Induction of pluripotent stem cells transplantation 1189 therapy for stroke. Mol. Cell. Biochem. [Epub ahead of print]. 1190
 - Jin, K., Sun, Y., Xie, L., et al., 2005. Comparison of ischemia-directed migration of neural precursor cells after intrastriatal, intraventricular, or intravenous transplantation in the rat. Neurobiol. Dis. 18, 366-374.
 - Jin, R., Yang, G., Li, G., 2010. Inflammatory mechanisms in ischemic stroke, role of inflammatory cells. J. Leukoc. Biol. 87, 779-789.
 - Kang, S.K., Shin, M.J., Jung, J.S., Kim, Y.G., Kim, C.H., 2006. Autologous adipose tissuederived stromal cells for treatment of spinal cord injury. Stem Cells Dev. 15, 583-594.
 - Keimpema, E., Fokkens, M.R., Nagy, Z., et al., 2009. Early transient presence of implanted bone marrow stem cells reduces lesion size after cerebral ischaemia in adult rats. Neuropathol. Appl. Neurobiol. 35, 89-102.
 - Kent, D.M., Selker, H.P., Ruthazer, R., Bluhmki, E., Hacke, W., 2006. Can multivariable risk-benefit profiling be used to select treatment-favorable patients for thrombolysis in stroke in the 3- to 6-hour time window? Stroke 37, 2963-2969.
 - Kern, S., Eichler, H., Stoeve, J., Klüter, H., Bieback, K., 2006. Comparative analysis of mesenchymal stem cells from bone marrow. Umbilical cord blood, or adipose tissue. Stem Cells 24, 1294-1301.
 - Kim, H., Kim, H.Y., Choi, M.R., et al., 2010. Dose-dependent efficacy of ALS-human mesenchymal stem cells transplantation into cisterna magna in SOD1-G93A ALS mice. Neurosci. Lett. 468, 190-194.
 - Kim, S.Y., Cho, H.S., Yang, S.H., et al., 2009. Soluble mediators from human neural stem cells play a critical role in suppression of T-cell activation and proliferation. J. Neurosci. Res. 87, 2264-2272.

- Kishk, N.A., Gabr, H., Hamdy, S., et al., 2010. Case control series of intrathecal autologous bone marrow mesenchymal stem cell therapy for chronic spinal cord injury. Neurorehabil. Neural Repair 24, 702-708.
- Kleindorfer, D., Lindsell, C.J., Brass, L., Koroshetz, W., Broderick, J.P., 2008. National US estimates of recombinant tissue plasminogen activator use, ICD-9 codes substantially underestimate. Stroke 39, 924–928.
- Koh, S.H., Kim, K.S., Choi, M.R., et al., 2008. Implantation of human umbilical cordderived mesenchymal stem cells as a neuroprotective therapy for ischemic stroke in rats. Brain Res. 229, 233-248.
- Kondziolka, D., Wechsler, L., Goldstein, S., et al., 2000. Transplantation of cultured human neuronal cells for patients with stroke. Neurology 55, 565-569.
- Kriz, J., 2006. Inflammation in ischemic brain injury, timing is important. Crit. Rev. Neurobiol. 18, 145–157.
- Le Belle, J.E., Caldwell, M.E., Svendsen, C.N., et al., 2004. Improving the survival of human CNS precursor-derived neurons after transplantation. J. Neurosci. Res. 76.174-183.
- Lee, J.K., Jin, H.K., Endo, S., et al., 2010. Intracerebral transplantation of bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells reduces amyloid-beta deposition and rescues memory deficits in Alzheimer's disease mice by modulation of immune responses. Stem Cells 28, 329-343.
- Lee, S.T., Chu, K., Jung, K.H., et al., 2008. Anti-inflammatory mechanism of intravascular neural stem cell transplantation in haemorrhagic stroke. Brain 131, 616-629
- Leu, S., Lin, Y.C., Yuen, C.M., et al., 2010. Adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells markedly attenuate brain infarct size and improve neurological function in rats. J. Transl. Med. 8, 63.
- Li, J.M., Zhu, H., Lu, S., et al., 2010a. Migration and differentiation of human mesenchymal stem cells in the normal rat brain. Neurol. Res. 33, 84-92.
- M., Zhang, S.Z., Guo, Y.W., et al., 2010b. Human umbilical vein-derived dopaminergic-like cell transplantation with nerve growth factor ameliorates motor dysfunction in a rat model of Parkinson's disease. Neurochem. Res. 35, 1522-1529.
- Liang, J., Zhang, H., Hua, B., et al., 2009. Allogeneic mesenchymal stem cells transplantation in treatment of multiple sclerosis. Mult. Scler. 15, 644-646.
- Lim, H.C., Lee, S.T., Chu, K., et al., 2008. Neuroprotective effect of neural stem cellconditioned media in in vitro model of Huntington's disease. Neurosci. Lett. 435. 175 - 180
- Linares, G., Mayer, S.A., 2009. Hypothermia for the treatment of ischemic and hemorrhagic stroke. Crit. Care Med. 37, S243-S249.
- Lindvall, O., Rehnerona, S., Brundin, P., et al., 1989. Human fetal dopamine neurons grafted into the striatum in two patients with severe Parkinson's disease. A detailed account of methodology and a 6-month follow-up. Arch. Neurol. 46, 615-631
- Lindvall, O., Björklund, A., 2000. First step towards cell therapy for Huntington's disease, Lancet 356, 1945-1946.
- Liu, Y.P., Lang, B.T., Baskava, M.K., Dempsey, R.I., Vemuganti, R., 2009. The potential of neural stem cells to repair stroke-induced brain damage. Acta Neuropathol. 117, 469-480.
- Lloyd-Jones, D., Adams, R.J., Brown, T.M., et al., 2010. Executive summary, heart disease and stroke statistics-2010 update, a report from the American Heart Association, Circulation 121, 948-954.
- López-González, R., Kunckles, P., Velasco, I., 2009. Transient recovery in a rat model of familial amyotrophic lateral sclerosis after transplantation of motor neurons derived from mouse embryonic stem cells. Cell Transplant. 18, 1171–1181.
- Loughlin, A.J., Woodroofe, M.N., Cuzner, M.L., 1993. Modulation of interferongamma-induced major histocompatibility complex class II and Fc receptor expression on isolated microglia by transforming growth factorbeta 1, interleukin-4, noradrenaline and glucocorticoids. Immunology 79, 125 - 130
- Luheshi, N.M., Rothwell, N.J., Brough, D., 2009. Dual functionality of interleukin-1 family cytokines: implications for anti-interleukin-1 therapy. Br. J. Pharmacol. 157 1318-1329
- Madrazo, I., Francobourland, R., Ostrosky-Solis, F., et al., 1990. Fetal homotransplant to the striatum of parkinsonian subjects. Arch. Neurol. 47, 1281-1285.
- Makar, T.K., Bever, C.T., Singh, I.S., et al., 2009. Brain-derived neurotrophic factor gene delivery in an animal model of multiple sclerosis using bone marrow stem cells as a vehicle. J. Neuroimmunol. 210, 40-51.
- Marler, J.R., Tilley, B.C., Lu, M., et al., 2000. Early stroke treatment associated with better outcome, the NINDS rt-PA stroke study. Neurology 55, 1649-1655.
- Marques, S.A., Almeida, F.M., Fernandes, A.M., et al., 2010. Predifferentiated embryonic stem cells promote functional recovery after spinal cord compressive injury. Brain Res. 1349, 115-128.
- Martinez, H.R., Gonzalez-Garza, M.T., Moreno-Cuevas, J.E., et al., 2009. Stem-cell transplantation into the frontal motor cortex in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis patients. Cytotherapy 11, 26-34.
- Masuda, H., Matsuzaki, Y., Hiratsu, E., et al., 2010. Human endometrial stem cells. PLoS One 5, e10387.
- Matsukawa, N., Yasuhara, T., Hara, K., et al., 2009. Therapeutic targets and limits of minocycline neuroprotection in experimental ischemic stroke. BMC Neurosci. 10, 126.
- Matsuo, Y., Onodera, H., Shiga, Y., et al., 1994. Role of cell adhesion molecules in brain injury after transient middle cerebral artery occlusion in the rat. Brain Res. 656, 344-352.
- Maurer, M.H., Thomas, C., Bürgers, H.F., Kuschinsky, W., 2007. Transplantation of adult neural progenitor cells transfected with vascular endothelial growth factor rescues grafted cells in the rat brain. Int. J. Biol. Sci. 4, 1-7.

1293

1294

1295

1296

1297

1298

1299

1301 1302

1303 1304

1305

1306

1307

1308

1309

1310

1311

1312

1313

1314

1315

1316

1317

1318

1319 1320

1321

1322

1323

1324

1325

1326

1327

1328

1329

1330

1331

1332

1333

1334

1335

1336

1337

1338

1339

1340

1341

1342

1343

1344

1345

1351

1352

1353

1354

1355

1371

1372

1373 1374

1381

1382

1383

1384

1385

RTICLE IN PRES

M.C.O. Rodrigues et al. / Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews xxx (2011) xxx-xxx

- Mazo, M., Planat-Bénard, V., Abizanda, G., et al., 2008. Transplantation of adipose derived stromal cells is associated with functional improvement in a rat model of chronic myocardial infarction. Eur. J. Heart Fail. 10, 454-462.
- Mazzini, L., Ferrero, I., Luparello, V., et al., 2010. Mesenchymal stem cell transplantation in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: a phase I clinical trial. Exp. Neurol. 223, 229-237
- McCoy, M.K., Tansey, M.G., 2008. TNF signaling inhibition in the CNS: implications for normal brain function and neurodegenerative disease. J. Neuroinflammation 5.45
- Meng, X., Ichim, T.E., Zhong, J., et al., 2007. Endometrial regenerative cells: a novel stem cell population. J. Transl. Med. 5, 57.
- Mezey, E., Chandross, K.J., Harta, G., Maki, R.A., McKercher, S.R., 2000. Turning blood into brain: cells bearing neuronal antigens generated in vivo from bone marrow. Science 290, 1779-1782
- Mitrecić, D., Nicaise, C., Gajović, S., Pochet, R., 2010. Distribution, differentiation, and survival of intravenously administered neural stem cells in a rat model of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Cell Transplant. 19, 537-548.
- Moghadan, F.H., Alaie, H., Karbalaie, K., et al., 2009. Transplantation of primed or unprimed mouse embryonic stem cell-derived neural precursor cells improves cognitive function in Alzheimerian rats. Differentiation 78, 59-68.
- Moon, M.H., Kim, S.Y., Kim, Y.J., et al., 2006. Human adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cells improve postnatal neovascularization in a mouse model of hindlimb ischemia. Cell. Physiol. Biochem. 17, 279-290.
- Mosna, F., Annunziato, F., Pizzolo, G., Krampera, M., 2010. Cell therapy for cardiac regeneration after myocardial infarct. Which cell is the best? Cardiovasc. Hematol. Agents Med. Chem. 8, 227-243.
- Murphy, M.P., Wang, H., Patel, A.N., et al., 2008. Allogeneic endometrial regenerative cells, an "off the shelf solution" for critical limb ischemia? J. Transl. 6, 45.
- Nakagami, H., Maeda, K., Morishita, R., et al., 2005. Novel autologous cell therapy in ischemic limb disease through growth factor secretion by cultured adipose tissue-derived stromal cells. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 25, 2542-2547.
- Nakagomi, N., Nakagomi, T., Kubo, S., et al., 2009. Endothelial cells support survival, proliferation, and neuronal differentiation of transplanted adult ischemiainduced neural stem/progenitor cells after cerebral infarction. Stem Cells 9, 2185-2195
- Nefussy, B., Artamonov, I., Deutsch, V., et al., 2010. Recombinant human granulocytecolony stimulating factor administration for treating amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: a pilot study. Amyotroph. Lateral Scler. 11, 187-193.
- Ouchi, Y., Yagi, S., Yokokura, M., Sakamoto, M., 2009. Neuroinflammation in the living brain of Parkinson's disease, Parkinsonism Relat, Disord, 15 (Suppl. 3). S200-S204.
- Ourednik, J., Ourednik, V., Lynch, W.P., Schachner, M., Snyder, E.Y., 2002. Neural stem cells display an inherent mechanism for rescuing dysfunctional neurons. Nat Biotechnol 20 1103-1110
- Padykula, H.A., 1991, Regeneration in the primate uterus, the role of stem cells, Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 622, 47-52.
- Patel, A.N., Park, E., Kuzman, M., et al., 2008. Multipotent menstrual blood stromal 1346 stem cells, isolation characterization and differentiation. Cell Transplant. 17, 1347 303-311. 1348
- Park, D.H., Borlongan, C.V., Willing, A.E., et al., 2009a. Human umbilical cord blood 1349 cell grafts for brain ischemia. Cell Transplant. 18, 985-998. 1350
 - Park, D.H., Eve, D., Musso III, J., et al., 2009b. Inflammation and stem cell migration to the injured brain in higher organisms. Stem Cells Dev. 18, 693-701.
 - Pluchino, S., Gritti, A., Blezer, E., et al., 2009. Human neural stem cells ameliorate autoimmune encephalomyelitis in non-human primates. Ann. Neurol. 66, 343-354.
- Poliachenko, Iu.V., Driuk, M.F., Dombrovs'kyĭ, D., 2010. Ultrastructural changes of 1356 1357 vascular endothelium in patients with chronic ischemia of the extremities after conduction of multipotent stromal cells from adipose tissue transplantation. 1358 1359 Klin, Khir, 6, 50-53.
- 1360 Prianishnikov, V.A., 1978. On the concept of stem cell and a model of functional-1361 morphological structure of the endometrium. Contraception 18, 213-223.
- 1362 Priya 1, R.B., McDevitt, T.C., 2010. Stem cell paracrine actions and tissue regeneration Regen. Med. 5, 121-143. 1363
- Q23 Ra, J.C., Shin, I.S., Kim, S.H., et al., 2011. Safety of intravenous infusion of human 1364 adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cells in animals and humans. Stem 1365 1366 Cells Dev. [Epub ahead of print].
- 1367 Rafei, M., Birman, E., Forner, K., Galipeau, J., 2009. Allogeneic mesenchymal stem cells for treatment of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. Mol. Ther. 1368 1369 17.1799-1803 1370
 - Ramon-Cueto, A., Plant, G.W., Avila, J., Bunge, M.B., 1998. Long-distance axonal regeneration in the transected adult rat spinal cord is promoted by olfactory ensheating glia transplants. J. Neurosci. 18, 3803-3815.
 - Rha, J.H., Saver, J.L., 2007. The impact of recanalization on ischemic stroke outcome? A meta-analysis. Stroke 38, 967-973
- Rehni, A.K., Singh, N., Jaggi, A.S., Singh, M., 2007. Amniotic fluid derived stem cells 1375 ameliorate focal cerebral ischaemia-reperfusion injury induced behavioural 1376 deficits in mice. Behav. Brain Res. 183, 95-100. 1377
- Rodriguez, A.I., Willing, A.E., Saporta, S., Cameron, D.F., Sanberg, P.R., 2003. Effects 1378 1379 of Sertoli cell transplants in a 3-nitropropionic acid model of early Huntington's disease: a preliminary study. Neurotox. Res. 5, 443-450. 1380
 - Rothwell, N.J., Luheshi, G.N., 2000. Interleukin 1 in the brain: biology, pathology and therapeutic target. Trends Neurosci. 23, 618-625.
 - Roy, N.S., Cleren, C., Singh, S.K., et al., 2006. Functional engraftment of human ES cells-derived dopaminergic neurons enriched by co-culture with telomeraseimmortalized midbrain astrocytes. Nat. Med. 12, 1259-1268.

- Ryu, J.K., Cho, T., Wang, Y.T., McLarnon, J.G., 2009. Neural progenitor cells attenuate inflammatory reactivity and neuronal loss in an animal model of inflamed AD brain. J. Neuroinflammation 6, 39.
- Saghatelyan, A., 2009. Role of blood vessels in the neuronal migration. Semin. Cell Dev. Biol. 20, 744-750.
- Sanberg, P.R., Borlongan, C.V., Othberg, A.I., et al., 1997. Testis-derived Sertoli cells have a trophic effect on dopamine neurons and alleviate hemiparkinsonism in rats. Nat. Med. 3, 1129-1132.
- Shi, D., Chen, G., Lv, L., et al., 2010. The effect of lentivirus-mediated TH and GDNF genetic engineering mesenchymal stem cells on Parkinson's disease rat model. Neurol. Sci. 32, 41-51.
- Schwarting, S., Litwak, S., Hao, W., et al., 2008. Hematopoietic stem cells reduce post-ischemic inflammation and ameliorate ischemic brain injury. Stroke 39, 2867-2875
- Sensebé, L., Bourin, P., Tarte, K., 2011. Good manufacturing practices production of mesenchymal stem/stromal cells. Hum. Gene Ther. 22, 19-26.
- Sieber-Blum, M., 2010. Epidermal neural crest stem cells and their use in mouse models of spinal cord injury. Brain Res. Bull. 83, 189-193.
- Snyder, B.R., Chiu, A.M., Prockop, D.J., Chan, A.W., 2010. Human multipotent stromal cells (MSCs) increase neurogenesis and decrease atrophy of the striatum in a transgenic mouse model for Huntington's disease. PLoS One 5, e9347
- Somoza, R., Juri, C., Baes, M., Wyneken, U., Rubio, F.J., 2010. Intranigral transplantation of epigenetically-induced BDNF-secreting human mesenchymal stem cells: implications for cell-based therapies in Parkinson's disease. Biol. Blood Marrow Transplant. 16, 1530-1540.
- Sun, L., Lee, J., Fine, H.A., 2004. Neuronally expressed stem cell factor induces neural stem cell migration to areas of brain injury. J. Clin. Invest. 113, 1364-1374.
- Suzuki, S., Tanaka, K., Suzuki, N., 2009. Ambivalent aspects of interleukin-6 in cerebral ischemia: inflammatory versus neurotrophic aspects. J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab. 29, 464-479.
- Taguchi, A., Soma, T., Tanaka, H., et al., 2004. Administration of CD34+ cells after stroke enhances neurogenesis via angiogenesis in a mouse model. J. Clin. Invest. 114, 330-338
- Tai, Y.F., Pavese, N., Gerhard, A., Tabrizi, S.J., Barker, R.A., Brooks, D.J., Piccini, P., 2007. Microglial activation in presymptomatic Huntington's disease gene carriers, Brain 130, 1759-1766.
- Takagi, Y., Nishimura, M., Morizane, A., et al., 2005. Survival and differentiation of neural progenitor cells derived from embryonic cells and transplanted into ischemic brain, I. Neurosurg, 103, 304-310.
- Takano, T., Oberheim, N., Cotrina, M.L., Nedergaard, M., 2009. Astrocytes and ischemic injury. Stroke 40 (Suppl. 3), S8–S12.
- Tan, K., Lessieur, E., Cutler, A., et al., 2010. Impaired function of circulating CD34(+) CD45(-) cells in patients with proliferative diabetic retinopathy. Exp. Eve Res. 91.229-237.
- Tarella, C., Rutella, S., Gualandi, F., et al., 2010. Consistent bone marrow-derived cell mobilization following repeated short courses of granulocyte-colonystimulating factor in patients with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: results from a multicenter prospective trial. Cytotherapy 12, 50-59.
- Taylor, H.S., 2004. Endometrial cells derived from donor stem cells in bone marrow transplant recipients. IAMA 292, 80-85.
- The National Institute of Neurological Disorders and Stroke (NINDS) rt-PA Stroke Study Group, 1995. Tissue plasminogen activator for acute ischemic stroke. N. Engl I Med 333 1581-1587
- Tsuji, O., Miura, K., Okada, Y., et al., 2010. Therapeutic potential of appropriately evaluated safe-induced pluripotent stem cells for spinal cord injury. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 107. 12704-12709.
- Umemura, T., Soga, J., Hidaka, T., et al., 2008. Aging and hypertension are independent risk factors for reduced number of circulating endothelial progenitor cells. Am. J. Hypertens. 21, 1203-1209.
- Vazey, E.M., Dottori, M., Jamshidi, P., et al., 2010. Comparison of transplant efficiency between spontaneously-derived and Noggin-Primed human embryonic stem cell neural precursors in the Quinolinic acid rat model of Huntington's disease. Cell Transplant, 19, 1055-1062.
- Venkataramana, N.K., Kumar, S.K., Balaraju, S., et al., 2010. Open-labeled study of unilateral autologous bone-marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cell transplantation in Parkinson's disease. Transl. Res. 155, 62-70.
- Vercelli, A., Mereuta, O.M., Garbossa, D., et al., 2008. Human mesenchymal stem cell transplantation extends survival, improves motor performance and decreases neuroinflammation in mouse model of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Neurobiol. Dis 31 395-405
- Wagner, W., Bork, S., Horn, P., et al., 2009. Aging and replicative senescence have related effects on human stem and progenitor cells. PLoS One 4, e5846.
- Wang, X., Feuerstein, G.Z., Xu, L., et al., 2004. Inhibition of tumor necrosis factoralpha-converting enzyme by a selective antagonist protects brain from focal ischemic injury in rats. Mol. Pharmacol. 65, 890-896.
- Wernig, M., Zhao, J., Pruszak, J., et al., 2008. Neurons derived from reprogrammed fibroblasts functionally integrate into the fetal brain and improve symptoms of rats with Parkinson's disease. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 105, 5856-5861.
- Westrich, J., Yaeger, P., He, C., et al., 2010. Factors affecting residence time of mesenchymal stromal cells (MSC) injected into the myocardium. Cell Transplant. 19.937-948
- Wolff, E.F., Gao, X.B., Yao, K.V., et al., 2010. Endometrial stem cell transplantation Q241469 restores dopamine production in a Parkinson's disease model. J. Cell. Mol. Med. [Epub ahead of print].

1438

1439

1440

1441

1442

1443

1444

1445

1446

1447

1448

1449

1450

1451

1452

1453

1454

1455

1456

1457

1458

1459

1460

1461

1462

1463

1464

1465

1466

1467

1468

1470

1471

1386

1387

1388

1389

1390

139

1392

1393

1394

1395

1396

1397

1398

1399

1400

140

1402

1403

1404

13

ARTICLE IN PRESS

M.C.O. Rodrigues et al. / Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews xxx (2011) xxx-xxx

1477

1478

1479

1480

1481

1482

1483

1484

1485

1486

1487

1488

1489

1490

1491

1492

1493

1494

Wu, J., Sun, Z., Sun, H.S., et al., 2008a. Intravenously administered bone marrow cells migrate to damaged brain tissue and improve neural function in ischemic rats. Cell Transplant. 16, 993–1005.

Wu, S., Sasaki, A., Yoshimoto, R., et al., 2008b. Neural stem cells improve learning and memory in rats with Alzheimer's disease. Pathobiology 75, 186–194.

Wyss-Coray, T., Mucke, L., 2002. Inflammation in neurodegenerative disease – a double edged sword. Neuron 35, 419–432.

- Xiong, N., Cao, X., Zhang, Z., et al., 2010. Long-term efficacy and safety of human umbilical cord mesenchymal stromal cells in rotenone-induced hemiparkinsonian rats. Biol. Blood Marrow Transplant. 16, 1519–1529.
- Xu, J., Kochanek, K.D., Murphy, S.L., Tejada-Vera, B., 2010a. Deaths, final data for 2007. Natl. Vital Stat. Rep. 57, 1–134.
- Xu, L., Tan, Y.Y., Ding, J.Q., Chen, S.D., 2010b. The iPS technique provides hope for Parkinson's disease treatment. Stem Cell Rev. 6, 398–404.
- Xuan, A.G., Luo, M., Ji, W.D., Long, D.H., 2009. Effects of engrafted neural stem cells in Alzheimer's disease rats. Neurosci. Lett. 450, 167–171.
- Xuqian, W., Kanghua, L., Weihong, Y., et al., 2011. Intraocular transplantation of human adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells in a rabbit model of experimental retinal holes. Ophthalmic Res. 46, 199–207.
- Yagi, H., Soto-Gutierrez, A., Parekkadan, B., et al., 2010. Mesenchymal stem cells: Mechanisms of immunomodulation and homing. Cell Transplant. 19, 667–679.
- Yamout, B., Hourani, R., Salti, H., et al., 2010. Bone marrow mesenchymal stem cell transplantation in patients with multiple sclerosis: a pilot study. J. Neuroimmunol. 227, 185–189.

- Yang, D., Zhang, Z.J., Oldenburg, M., Ayala, M., Zhang, S.C., 2008. Human embryonic stem cell-derived dopaminergic neurons reverse functional deficit in parkinsonian rats. Stem Cells 26, 55–63.
- Yang, J.R., Liao, C.H., Pang, C.Y., et al., 2010a. Directed differentiation into neural lineages and therapeutic potential of porcine embryonic stem cells in rat Parkinson's disease model. Cell. Reprogram. 12, 447–461.
- Yang, X., Song, L., Wu, N., Liu, Z., Xue, S., Hui, G., 2010b. An experimental study on intracerebroventricular transplantation of human amniotic epithelial cells in a rat model of Parkinson's disease. Neurol. Res. 32 (10), 1054–1059.
- Yepes, M., Roussel, B.D., Ali, C., Vivien, D., 2009. Tissue-type plasminogen activator in the ischemic brain, more than a thrombolytic. Trends Neurosci. 32, 48–55.
- Yilmaz, G., Granger, D.N., 2010. Leukocyte recruitment and ischemic brain injury. Neuromolecular Med. 12, 193–204.
- Zhao, C.P., Zhang, C., Zhou, S.N., et al., 2007. Human mesenchymal stromal cells ameliorate the phenotype of SOD1-G93A ALS mice. Cytotherapy 9, 414–426.
- Zhang, M.J., Liu, B., Xia, W., Sun, Z.Y., Lu, K.H., 2009. Could cells from mentrual blood be a new source for cell-based therapies? Med. Hypotheses 72, 252–254.
- Zhong, Z., Patel, A.N., Ichim, T.E., et al., 2009. Feasibility investigation of allogeneic endometrial regenerative cells. J. Transl. Med. 7, 15.
- Zou, Z., Jiang, X., Zhang, W., et al., 2010. Efficacy of Tyrosine Hydroxylase gene modified neural stem cells derived from bone marrow on Parkinson's disease-a rat model study. Brain Res. 1346, 279–286.

1514 1515 1516

1517 1518